
BOULDER CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MUNICIPAL BUILDING, 1777 BROADWAY 

SPECIAL MEETING 
Thursday, August 6, 2015 

6 PM 
AGENDA 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL 

 
2. PUBLIC HEARINGS 

 
A. Second reading, and consideration of a motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance 

No. 8059 amending Chapter 11-1 “Water Utility,” B.R.C 1981, and authorizing the 
City Manager to execute an agreement relating to the provision of out-of-city 
water services with the owner of 4400 Peach Court 

 
B. BVCP schedule, work plan and process for landowners and the general public 

to submit requests for change to the plan 
 
C. Concept Plan Review and Comment: Request for citizen, staff and City 

Council comment on a proposal for a mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) 
located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119 (Diagonal Highway), that 
includes 295 market-rate multi-family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, 
associated community buildings and 54,000 square feet of commercial office space 
(with options for partial retail and coffee); reviewed under case no. LUR2015-
00028 

 
3. MATTERS FROM MEMBERS OF COUNCIL 

 
A. Request for Council direction regarding proposed draft lease with the Colorado 

Chautauqua Association 
 

B. Certification of Charter Amendment Petitions 
 
C. National League of Cities Committee assignments 

 
4. ADJOURNMENT 

 
This agenda and the meetings can be viewed at www.bouldercolorado.gov / City Council.  Meetings 
are aired live on Municipal Channel 8 and the city’s Web site and are re-cablecast at 6 p.m. 
Wednesdays and 11 a.m. Fridays in the two weeks following a regular council meeting.  DVDs may 
be checked out from the Main Boulder Public Library.   

 
Anyone requiring special packet preparation such as Braille, large print, or tape recorded versions 
may contact the City Clerk’s Office at (303) 441-3002, 8 a.m. – 5 p.m. Monday through Friday.  48 
hours notification prior to the meeting or preparation of special materials IS REQUIRED.   

 
If you need Spanish interpretation or other language-related assistance for this meeting, please call 
(303) 441-1905 at least three business days prior to the meeting.  Si usted necesita interpretación o 

Packet Page 1

http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/


cualquier otra ayuda con relación al idioma para esta junta, por favor comuníquese al (303) 441-1905 
por lo menos 3 negocios días antes de la junta.  

 
Electronic presentations to the city council must be pre-loaded by staff at the time of sign up and will 
NOT be accepted after 3:30 p.m. at regularly scheduled meetings.  Electronic media must come on a 
prepared USB jump (flash/thumb) drive and no technical support is provided by staff. 

 

Packet Page 2



 
C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
MEETING DATE: August 6, 2015 

 

AGENDA TITLE: 
Second reading, and consideration of a motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance No. 8059 
amending Chapter 11-1 “Water Utility,” B.R.C 1981, and authorizing the City Manager to 
execute an agreement relating to the provision of out-of-city water services with the owner of 
4400 Peach Court. 

 

PRESENTERS:  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability (CP&S) 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, CP&S 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager, CP&S 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney  
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager 
Julia Chase, Paralegal, City Attorney’s Office  
Edward Stafford, Development Review Manager, Public Works  
Scott Kuhna, Development Review Supervisor 
Jeff Hirt, Planner II 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

This agenda item is a second reading of an ordinance (Attachment A) amending Chapter 11-1 “Water 
Utility” and City Manager authorization to execute an agreement to provide out of city water services to 
an approximately 6.5 acre single family property in Area III-Planning Reserve at 4400 Peach Court. 
Boulder County has approved an expansion of the existing house for a larger single family home. Please 
note that this is a request for consideration of an emergency ordinance per City Charter Sections 17 and 
18.  

The property owner requested water service through the Left Hand Water District (District) in 2013. 
Pursuant to the city’s Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) with the District (Attachment C), the city 
received this referral as the property is in the Boulder Valley Planning Area. The city objected to granting 
of the tap request through the District because it was inconsistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive 
Plan (BVCP) (Attachment D).  Specifically, because the property is in Area III-Planning Reserve, there 
is the potential for future city service area expansion that may create overlapping service between the city 
and the District. 

Agenda Item 2A     Page  1Packet Page 3



As a result, the property owner has requested city water service. The ordinance is required primarily 
because the property is in Area III, and BRC Sec. 11-1-15 (Out of City Water Service) only addresses 
properties in Area II. 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff is recommending that council consider an ordinance (Attachment A) that would enable the subject 
property to obtain city water service through an agreement executed by the City Manager for the 
following reasons:  

1. BVCP Sec. 1.20 states that the city and county intend to maintain the option of future service area 
expansion in Area III–Planning Reserve;  

2. BVCP Sec. 1.36 (b)  supports extending limited utility service in Area III when it furthers BVCP 
goals;  

3. To avoid the potential of overlapping service between the city and District water supply within 
the City of Boulder Service Area; and 

4. The request is limited to one approved single family dwelling unit and accessory structures 
directly related to the single family use.  The request will not result in additional development 
potential.  

City Council approved this request as outlined in this memo on first reading on July 28, 2015.  

This is a request for consideration of an emergency ordinance to address a time sensitive need for safe 
potable water to the property at 4400 Peach Court.  Emergency ordinances have to be adopted by two-
thirds of council members present.  

Suggested Motion  
Staff requests council consideration and action in the form of the following motion.   

Suggested Motion Language:  
Motion to adopt Emergency Ordinance No. 8059 amending Chapter 11-1 “Water Utility,” 
B.R.C 1981, and authorizing the City Manager to execute an agreement relating to the provision 
of out-of-city water services with the owner of 4400 Peach Court.  

 
COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS  
• Economic:  None anticipated.  Area III–Planning Reserve is an area where the city and county intend 

to maintain the option of future Service Area expansion.  No city improvements are proposed at this 
time. 

• Environmental:  The water service will provide the property with safe potable water.  The applicant 
will be able to cease, avoid or limit use of wells, ditch water or trucking in water for their potable 
water source.   

• Social: The water service will help to ensure that basic health and safety needs of the residents and 
visitors to the property are met. 

 
OTHER IMPACTS 
• Fiscal: None identified. 
• Staff time: The proposed ordinance and agreement are within normal staff work plans. 
 
 

Agenda Item 2A     Page  2Packet Page 4



 
BOARD AND COMMISSION FEEDBACK 
Planning Board provided comments on this request at their July 16, 2015 meeting. The comments 
related to clarifications for the council memo and included:  

• Show a map of public lands and conservation easements that surround this parcel 
(addressed in the Vicinity Map and Existing Conditions and Boulder County Approvals 
section below);  and  

• Address if this approval sets any kind of precedence for similar future requests 
(addressed in the Select Components of Ordinance and Agreement section below).   

 

BACKGROUND 
The Left Hand Water District is a special district that provides treated water to about 6,500 homes in 
Boulder and Weld Counties. The City of Boulder and the District entered into the 1995 Amended and 
Restated Agreement (IGA, see Attachment C) that provides a process for the city to comment on 
requests for new service or changes in service to existing District water customers in the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP) area. The city’s review of the requests focuses on whether the District has 
the capacity to serve the new customers and whether the request is consistent with the BVCP.    

Vicinity Map 

 

Agenda Item 2A     Page  3Packet Page 5



The city and the district have a long history of coordinating utility services within the BVCP area.  
Special districts like Left Hand are quasi-municipal corporations and political subdivisions under state 
law. While there are a number of special districts that provide various services within the Boulder Valley, 
the city and Boulder County have discouraged expansion of such districts, to discourage urban 
development outside of the urban municipalities. Since the early 1970s, the city and the District have 
worked to prevent conflicts and overlaps between the city and District water service and to ensure that 
any utility service within the Boulder Valley is done in a manner consistent with the BVCP.  

Within the past few years, the District has replaced a 2-inch water line with an 8-inch water line to service 
an area generally located north of Independence Road, east of North 55th Street, south of Jay Road, and 
west of 63rd Street. The District has also replaced an undersized 2 ½ inch waterline with a 6-inch water 
line between the intersection of 47th Street and Apple Way, extending 2,685 feet north along 47th Street to 
the intersection with Pleasant Ridge Road.   

Application History  
The chronology below summarizes the city’s involvement in this application since 2013:  

• March 2013 – City received referral from Left Hand Water District for single family water 
service at 4400 Peach Court. The Left Hand Water District indicated that they can serve the 
property (staff confirmed this is still the case under current conditions).  

• June 2013 – City informed District of objection to District’s referral due to inconsistency with 
BVCP policies (Attachment D).  The Left Hand Water District subsequently removed this 
request from their board hearing schedule.  

• May 2014 – City received request for out of city utility permit from 4400 Peach Court property 
owner for water service.   

• June 2014 – City provided comments on application that include the need to join the Northern 
Colorado Water Conservancy District and the requirement for a special ordinance and agreement 
due to the property’s Area III-Planning Reserve status.  

• July 2014 to present – City and applicant discussions and finalization of components of special 
ordinance and agreement.  

Existing Conditions and Boulder County Approvals  
The subject property contains a single family house and accessory buildings (see Attachment B).  The 
property is also known as the Poor Homestead, a historic farming complex first settled in the 1880s. 
Boulder County Land Use reviewed and approved expansion of the existing house in 2013 (Case No. 
SPR-13-0013). This approval was for expansion of the existing house for a 2,693 sq. ft. residence.  The 
approved house stays under the maximum permissible size of a residence on the property of 2,706 sq. ft. 
per Boulder County regulations. The property has several existing accessory buildings totaling 4,715 sq. 
ft.  

The subject property is also part of the Poor Nonurban Planned Unit Development (NUPUD). The 
Vicinity Map above identifies the surrounding properties within this NUPUD, and an adjacent NUPUD to 
the east extending to 47th Street.  

The NUPUD’s in the Vicinity Map above are conservation easements, according to Boulder County Parks 
and Open Space (i.e., the NUPUD is the mechanism for establishing the conservation easement). These 
conservation easements carry their own stipulations, including a limitation on new development.  Within 

Agenda Item 2A     Page  4Packet Page 6



these NUPUD’s, only accessory buildings that are for agricultural use are allowed.  No new principal 
structures are allowed in these NUPUDs.  

Select Components of Ordinance and Agreement  
The proposed ordinance and agreement contain the following provisions that would allow city water 
service to the property, as BRC Sec. 11-1-15 currently does not allow city water to the property:  

• City Manager authorization to execute an Out of City Utility Agreement and Revocable Permit 
for 4400 Peach Court.   

• City Manager authorization to approve changes to the Agreement provided those changes meet 
the standards of BRC Sec. 11-1-15 “Out of City Water Service”. 

• Clarification in both the ordinance and agreement that city water service is limited to one 
dwelling unit and accessory structures only directly related to the single family use and a 1-inch 
water meter.  

• A statement that the property owner must connect to city water service within six months of City 
Manager approval. 

• That the owner is fully responsible for the costs of the connection and obtaining required 
approvals for easements and any affected ditch companies for city water service.   

Any future requests for out of city water service to properties in Area III-Planning Reserve would have to 
follow a similar process to this application, unless BRC Sec. 11-1-15 is amended from only currently 
allowing out of city water to Area II properties to also allowing water service to Area III-Planning 
Reserve properties.  

ANALYSIS 
This section provides further analysis of the application relative to the out of city utility permit provisions 
in BRC Sec. 11-1-15 (b).  

(1)  The property is located within Area II of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan, unless the facility 
to be served is a publicly owned facility that because of its nature is most appropriately located outside 
Area II and because of the general public interest should be served by water service 

The property is in Area III – Planning Reserve and contains an existing single family residential 
structure and several accessory buildings. BRC Sec. 11-1-15 does not regulate water service to 
Area III properties. In order for the property to receive city water service, the city must approve 
the ordinance set forth in Attachment A.  Staff supports extension of city water to the property 
because it is consistent with BVCP Policies 1.20 & 2.07(b) – “the city and county intend to 
maintain the option of limited future Service Area expansion” and 1.36 – “the city and county 
agree that it is appropriate for the city to extend limited utility service in Area III and Area II in 
circumstances that further Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan goals”.  In this case, the goal is to 
maintain the option of future Service Area expansion and avoid potentially overlapping service 
boundaries with the Left Hand Water District in that area. IGA Recital #2 also states that the city 
and District seek to “insure development consistent with good planning and the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan”.  

(2)  There is no main extension involved for such service beyond one hundred feet or in violation of the 
main extension limit, whichever is less 

Agenda Item 2A     Page  5Packet Page 7



There is no main extension involved with this request.  

(3)  The city planning department has determined that the proposal does not constitute new urban 
development and is consistent with the comprehensive plan 

The water service requested is for an approved single family residential home and accessory 
buildings subordinate to the single family use and will not result in any new urban development.  

(4)  The City has referred the application to the Boulder County Planning Department under the 
referral provisions of the comprehensive plan 

The city referred the application to the Boulder County Land Use Department. The county 
indicated they had approved expansion of the single family home and has no conflicts with this 
out of city water service request. 

(5)  The service is to be extended to a structure, which contains a legal use, that existed on the effective 
date of this chapter or to a platted single-family lot existing on the effective date of this chapter 

The service is to be extended to a Boulder County-recognized single family residential structure 
and outbuildings built in 1880 and 1960, respectively. The ordinance also allows future water 
service to accessory buildings directly related to the single family use within 1-inch water tap 
limitations.  

(6)  The property is located below the "Blue Line" 

 The property is located below the Blue Line.  

(7)  The property owner agrees in an agreement running with the land to annex to the City as soon as 
the property is eligible for annexation 

The property owner has signed an Out of City Utility Agreement (Attachment A) that indicates 
this in Sec. 4.h.  

(8)  The property has an existing permitted out of city sewer connection or has applied for such permit 
in accordance with the requirements of section 11-2-10, "Out of City Sewer Service," B.R.C. 1981, and 
agreed to connect to sanitary sewer when eligible.  

The property has a county-approved septic system and it not eligible to connect to city sewer 
service at this time. 

NEXT STEPS 
The City Manager will be asked to sign the Out of City Utility Agreement and Revocable Permit in 
Attachment A.  The applicant will then be required to obtain all necessary approvals to connect to city 
water that may include an easement and right of way permit. The agreement stipulates that the applicant 
must connect to city water within 6 months of City Manager approval.  
 
ATTACHMENTS:  

A. Ordinance and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service  
B. Site Plan  
C. 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA  
D. City Letter to Left Hand Water District (June 2013)  

  

Agenda Item 2A     Page  6Packet Page 8



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 8059 
 

AN EMERGENCY MEASURE ORDINANCE AMENDING 
CHAPTER 11-1, “WATER UTILITY,” B.R.C. 1981, AND 
AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO EXECUTE AN 
AGREEMENT RELATING TO THE PROVISION OF OUT-OF-
CITY WATER SERVICES WITH THE OWNER OF 4400 
PEACH COURT AND SETTING FORTH RELATED DETAILS. 

 
  
THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO FINDS AND RECITES 
THE FOLLOWING: 
 

A. The property generally described as 4400 Peach Court (the “Property”) and more 

particularly described as Lot 1, POOR NUPUD, County of Boulder, State of Colorado, is located 

in Area III-Planning Reserve Area of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan. 

 B. It is in the interest of the public’s health, safety, and welfare to extend limited 

water utility service to the Property. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF BOULDER, 

COLORADO: 

 Section 1.  The city council authorizes the city manager to execute on behalf of the City 

of Boulder, Colorado, an Out-of-City Utility Agreement and Revocable Permit for the Property, 

generally in the form attached to this ordinance as Exhibit A.  The city manager is authorized to 

sign an Out-of-City Utility Agreement and Revocable Permit after the property owner has 

completed the appropriate technical reviews and satisfied the conditions contained herein that are 

required pursuant to Chapter 11-1,  “Water Utility,” B.R.C. 1981, for outside of the City utility 

services except as those may be modified herein.  The city manager is authorized to approve 

changes to the Out-of-City Utility Agreement and Revocable Permit provided those changes 

meet the standards of this ordinance and of Section 11-1-15, “Out-of-City Water Service,” 

B.R.C. 1981, except as modified by this ordinance. 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8059 and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service

Agenda Item 2A     Page  7Packet Page 9



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

 

 Section 2.  The city council of the City of Boulder finds that:  1) making water available 

to the Property is fair and equitable; 2) it is in the interest of the public’s health, safety, and 

welfare to extend limited water utility service to the Property;  3) providing water service to the 

Property is consistent with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan’s policy 1.20 that states that 

the City and County intend to maintain the option of future Service Area expansion in Area III-

Planning Reserve Area; and  4) making water available to the Property is consistent with Boulder 

Valley Comprehensive Plan Policy 1.36 “Out-of-City Utility Service,” which supports extending 

utility service to Area III in circumstances that further Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 

goals.  Extension of the City water service to the Property would be limited to one existing 

dwelling unit and accessory structures that are located on the same lot as the single family 

dwelling unit, are subordinate to and customarily found with the single family dwelling unit, and 

are operated and maintained for the benefit or convenience of the occupants of or visitors to the 

single family dwelling unit.  There is no additional development potential beyond one dwelling 

unit. 

 Section 3.  To the extent that this ordinance conflicts with any previously adopted 

ordinance of the City, including Subsections 11-1-15(b)(1), 11-1-15(b)(5), and 11-1-15(b)(8), 

B.R.C. 1981, such ordinances are suspended for the limited purpose of implementing this 

ordinance.  This ordinance shall be considered an amendment to Chapter 11-1, “Water Utility,” 

B.R.C. 1981. 

 Section 4.   The owner of the Property has applied for out-of-city water service to the 

dwelling unit and  its accessory structures on the Property and shall actively seek approval of 

such application in a manner that is consistent with Subsection 9-2-6(e), B.R.C. 1981.  If the 

applicant fails to keep the application active, then it shall be considered withdrawn and this 

ordinance shall be of no further force or effect.  If the owner of the Property does not connect to 

the out-of-city water service within six months after the Out-of-City Utility Agreement and 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8059 and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service

Agenda Item 2A     Page  8Packet Page 10



 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

 

 

 

Revocable Permit is approved by the City Manager, then the permit shall expire and this 

ordinance shall be of no further force or effect. 

 Section 5.  This ordinance is necessary to protect the public health, safety, and welfare of 

the residents of the City, and covers matters of local concern. 

Section 6.  The council deems it appropriate that this ordinance be published by title only 

and orders that copies of this ordinance be made available in the office of the city clerk for public 

inspection and acquisition. 

Section 7.  The council finds that public health, peace, and safety justify the adoption of 

this ordinance as an emergency measure to address a time sensitive need for safe potable water to 

the property at 4400 Peach Court. 

INTRODUCED, READ ON FIRST READING, AND ORDERED PUBLISHED BY 

TITLE  ONLY THIS ___DAY OF _________________, 2015. 

 

___________________________________ 
Mayor 

 
Attest: 
 
_________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 

 

READ ON SECOND READING, PASSED BY A TWO-THIRDS VOTE OF COUNCIL 

MEMBERS PRESENT, ADOPTED AS AN EMERGENCY MEASURE, AND ORDERED 

PUBLISHED BY TITLE ONLY THIS ___DAY OF _________________, 2015. 

 
 

____________________________________ 
Mayor 

Attest: 

_________________________ 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8059 and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service

Agenda Item 2A     Page  9Packet Page 11



6-15-15 

EXHIBIT A TO ORDINANCE 
 

For Administrative Purposes Only 
Address: 4400 Peach Court 
Owner: Idle Acre Land Company LLC 
Case No.  LUR2014-00039 

  
OUT-OF-CITY UTILITY AGREEMENT AND REVOCABLE PERMIT 

 
This Agreement and Permit (“Agreement”), issued this _____ day of _________, 201_, by and 

between Idle Acre Land Company LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (“Owner”), the owner of 
certain property, generally located at 4400 Peach Court and more particularly described as Lot 1, POOR 
NUPUD, County of Boulder, State of Colorado (“Property”) and the City of Boulder, a Colorado 
municipal corporation (“City”). 
 

RECITALS 
 

A. The Owner has applied to the City for water service for a proposed residential use on the 
Property. 

B. The Property is located in Area III-Planning Reserve Area of the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan. 

C. The Property is already located within the Northern Colorado Water Conservancy 
District. 

D. The Property has been included in the Municipal Subdistrict of the Northern Colorado 
Water Conservancy District by the Weld County District Court’s order dated October 6, 2014 in Case No. 
1937CV9454-S1.  

E. The City Council of the City of Boulder (the “City Council”) concludes the following:  1) 
making water available to the Property is fair and equitable; 2) it is in the interest of the public’s health, 
safety, and welfare to extend limited water utility service to the Property; and 3) making water available 
to the Property is consistent with Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies that support extending city 
utility service to Area III in circumstances that further Comprehensive Plan goals, including policy 1.20 
that states that the city and county intend to maintain the option of future Service Area expansion in Area 
III-Planning Reserve.  

F. The City Council passed Ordinance No. ______ which authorizes the City of Boulder to 
provide municipal water utility service to the Property which is located outside the City limits of the City 
of Boulder for such uses under such terms and conditions as set forth by the said ordinance and the 
B.R.C. 1981. 

G. The City Council has determined that said service should be granted subject to the terms 
and conditions set forth herein. 

 

Agreement 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the recitals, promises, covenants herein set forth, and 
other good and valuable consideration herein receipted for the parties agree as follows: 

1. That the City will make available to the Owner, City of Boulder water service conditioned upon 
the Owner meeting and keeping the terms and conditions hereinafter contained.  Such service is 
to be made available for use on that portion of the Property, outside the City limits of the City of 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8059 and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service

Agenda Item 2A     Page  10Packet Page 12



6-15-15 

Boulder, which is not now eligible for annexation to the City of Boulder under the laws of the 
State of Colorado.  

 
2. The water service herein authorized is to be restricted exclusively to the Property and to a 1-inch 

water meter for a single family dwelling unit and accessory structures that are located on the same 
lot as said single family dwelling unit, are subordinate to and customarily found with the single 
family dwelling use, and are operated and maintained for the benefit or convenience of the 
occupants of or visitors to said single family dwelling unit.  No enlargement, increase, or 
modification of said service shall be made without prior written approval of the City through the 
appropriate official.  The Owner agrees that it shall be a violation of this Agreement if the Owner 
uses any City water service for any use that is not the single family use of the Property or that is 
not subordinate to and customarily found with the single family dwelling use and operated and 
maintained for the benefit or convenience of the occupants of or visitors  to the single family use 
of this Property. 

3. Both parties agree that the water service is provided under an Out-of-City Utility and Revocable 
Permit, that rates for the said service may be increased and if they are, the Owner will pay them, 
and that the service may be discontinued if the Owner fails to perform as required or if the needs 
of the City residents require.   

 

4. Owner agrees to fulfill all of the following conditions: 

a. To use the service only for the qualifying use as a single family dwelling unit.  Water 
service shall be limited to a 1-inch water meter for a single family dwelling unit and 
accessory structures that are located on the same lot as said single family dwelling unit, 
are subordinate to and customarily found with the single family dwelling use, and are 
operated and maintained for the benefit or convenience of the occupants of or visitors to 
said single family dwelling unit; 

 
b. At Owner’s sole cost, to make the connection at such point or points and obtain any 

necessary easements or ditch company approvals as the City Manager prescribes;  
 

c. Prior to connection to the City water service, the Owner shall pay all fees prescribed in 
Section 11-1-15, “Out-of-City Water Service,” B.R.C. 1981; 

 
d. To pay the outside City rates until such time as the Property is annexed; 

 
e. At Owner’s sole cost, to install and maintain the devices necessary to measure the use of 

the services for the purposes of assessing the charges therefor, if the City Manager finds 
it is necessary; 

 
f. To apply to the City for a new Out-of-City Utility Agreement and Revocable  Permit and 

any other necessary approvals before enlarging the service authorized herein or before 
altering, changing, enlarging or extending in any manner whatsoever the type of use for 
which water service is authorized herein; 

 
g. To furnish a current title memorandum showing that title to the Property is vested in the 

Owner’s name or to reimburse the City for obtaining such title memorandum and to pay 
any recording costs incurred; 

 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8059 and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service

Agenda Item 2A     Page  11Packet Page 13



6-15-15 

h. At any time after the Property becomes eligible for annexation to the City and upon 
request by the City, the Owner shall file with the City a valid annexation petition for the 
Property or, if requested, shall do all things necessary to further the annexation of said 
Property to the City, and shall agree to annex subject to the terms and conditions 
normally imposed upon annexations under the same or similar circumstances to include 
at least the following: 

 
(1) payment of the applicable development fees and taxes; 
(2) participation in a public improvement assessment program; and 
(3) dedicate to the City public improvement and right-of-way easements normally 

required of properties under same or similar circumstances. 
 
5. Under no circumstances may existing wells be used for domestic water purposes for the single 

family use.  No person shall make any cross connections to the City's municipal water supply 
system. 

 
6. Owner agrees to comply with all laws and regulations applicable to the Property and its 

development. 
 
7. This Agreement will become effective thirty days after the date of its issuance unless the city 

council schedules a hearing thereon.   
 
8. The City is of the opinion that it has the legal authority to enter into the within contract and the 

powers and authority to perform all obligations herein imposed upon it.  However, the City 
cannot anticipate what challenges, if any, might be made by any persons.  Therefore, in the event 
this Agreement, or any step or steps taken by the City to perform any of its obligations hereunder, 
is challenged in a lawsuit or lawsuits, the City shall have no obligation to perform further, and the 
City shall have the option to rescind the within. 

 
9. The covenants contained herein shall run with the land and be binding upon Owner, its successors 

and assigns, and all owners now or hereafter of the land hereby served by the City Water Utility. 
 
10. Owner has read the above and understands its terms and conditions, and now by its 

representative’s signature below does evidence its desire and intent to accept said service subject 
to the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

 
11. If this Agreement creates an interest in land, that interest shall vest, if at all, within the lives of the 

undersigned, plus twenty years and three hundred sixty-four days.  However, if Owner does not 
connect to water utility system within six months of the date of this permit, this permit shall 
expire and this Agreement will be null and void. 
 
Executed on the day and year first above written. 

 
 
IDLE ACRE LAND COMPANY LLC, 
a Colorado limited liability company 

 
By:_______________________________ 

              Finnius Ingalls, Managing Member 
  

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8059 and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service

Agenda Item 2A     Page  12Packet Page 14



6-15-15 

STATE OF COLORADO ) 
) ss. 

COUNTY OF BOULDER ) 
 

The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of ______, 201_ by 
Finnius Ingalls as Managing Member of Idle Acre Land Company LLC, a Colorado limited liability 
company. 
 

Witness my hand and official seal. 
My commission expires:______________ 

 
(seal)      _____________________________ 

       Notary Public 
 
 
 
 
CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO 
 
 
By: __________________________ 

Planning Director 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
_____________________________ 
City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_______________________ 
City Attorney’s Office 
 
 
______________ 
Date 
 

Attachment A - Ordinance No. 8059 and Agreement for Out of City Utility Service

Agenda Item 2A     Page  13Packet Page 15



Attachment B - Site Plan

Agenda Item 2A     Page  14Packet Page 16



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  15Packet Page 17



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  16Packet Page 18



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  17Packet Page 19



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  18Packet Page 20



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  19Packet Page 21



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  20Packet Page 22



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  21Packet Page 23



Attachment C - 1995 City and Left Hand Water District IGA

Agenda Item 2A     Page  22Packet Page 24



Attachment D - City Letter to Left Hand Water District (June 2013)

Agenda Item 2A     Page  23Packet Page 25



Attachment D - City Letter to Left Hand Water District (June 2013)

Agenda Item 2A     Page  24Packet Page 26



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: August 6, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE 
Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan – Direction on Service Area Expansion Assessment, 
Schedule, and Updates on Foundations Work 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager  
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning & Sustainability (CP&S) 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director, CP&S 
Lesli Ellis, Comprehensive Planning Manager, CP&S 
Courtland Hyser, Senior Planner, CP&S 
Jean Gatza, Sustainability Planner, CP&S 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
The purpose of this agenda item is to hold a public hearing on the question about whether or not 
to begin a Service Area Expansion Assessment (i.e., study of sufficient merit as a first step 
toward authorizing an Expansion Plan) and get direction from City Council on the overall work 
plan schedule including the land use change request process.  Staff will also provide a general 
update to council on other foundations work items for the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan 
(BVCP) update.  At a Study Session on June 9, council provided feedback on the work plan, 
focused topics, foundations work and community engagement, as described in that summary.   

In past updates, some of the BVCP approval bodies and others have expressed frustration with the 
Service Area Expansion process.  Specifically, requests have been solicited from Area III-
Planning Reserve property owners as part of the public request process, leading property owners 
to invest time, effort, and energy in creating proposals.  Such requests also have taken  significant 
staff and four body review time in analyzing and reviewing proposals, only then for at least one 
of the four approval bodies to discuss the lack of interest in considering expansion of the Service 
Area. 

Staff is therefore suggesting instead calling the question first about whether to initiate a study to 
determine if sufficient merit or unmet needs exist in the Service Area.  Attachment C (Service 
Area Expansion Process) explains the process in more detail. On July 28, a public hearing will 
enable property owners and the public to speak to whether the city and county should proceed 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 1Packet Page 27



with consideration of a Service Area Expansion Assessment as part of the 2015 update. In 
previous updates, property owners have submitted requests in the Area III-Planning Reserve, but 
since 1993 the BVCP city and county approval bodies have never authorized a study of the 
Service Area Expansion or Expansion Plan. 

Changing the sequence of consideration about the Service Area Expansion Assessment in no way 
affects the four body review process as articulated in the BVCP.  Staff is not recommending 
changes to that process.   

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Staff recommends that City Council accept the general schedule for the BVCP process, as noted 
in the first part of the motion below.  Additionally, staff recommends that the city and county not 
begin a Service Area Expansion Assessment (study of sufficient merit) because (1) the 
community has not identified unmet priority needs within the service area, nor has initial 
analysis; (2) there are other priorities for the 2015 plan update and the study would take 
significant resources; and (3) the city and county have never before authorized the study as the 
first step toward preparing an Expansion Plan.  This means that requests for Service Area 
Expansion would not be accepted as part of the public request process.  Alternatively, the four 
review bodies would consider the question of Service Area Expansion at the time of screening 
other land use parcels (tentatively Nov. 19, 2015 for City Council and Planning Board) as done in 
previous BVCP updates.  Staff would then accept requests from property owners for service area 
expansions in the Planning Reserve. (Staff will accept land use change requests, policy requests, 
and service area contractions regardless of the direction given on the Service Area Expansion 
question). 

Suggested and Optional Motion Language:  
Staff requests council consideration of this matter and action in the form of the following 
motion(s): 

Motion to: 
(1) Accept the general schedule for the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan process, as 

shown in Attachment A (including the schedule for land use and policy requests), 
acknowledging that detailed times will be adjusted periodically as the project progresses; 
and  

(2) Direct staff to not begin a Service Area Expansion Assessment (study of sufficient 
merit/unmet need in the service area) as part of the 2015 BVCP update, and therefore not 
process request for service area expansions as part of the update. 

COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY ASSESSMENTS AND IMPACTS 

Community Sustainability 
Staff will prepare an assessment of Community Sustainability, including addressing economic, 
environmental, and social benefits and impacts when potential changes to the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan are proposed.  This memo is narrowly focused on the questions about the 
schedule and Service Area Expansion Assessment, as well as updates on work in progress.   

Agenda Item 2B     Page 2Packet Page 28



Other Impacts 
Overall, the BVCP 2015 update has been budgeted and staffed, and is a significant undertaking 
already including several important analyses such as land use requests and changes for former 
Boulder Community Hospital area, CU South, and the Hogan Pancost site.  Staff anticipates the 
Service Area Expansion Assessment, if it were to be undertaken, would require additional 
resources and staff time to complete over four months to one year – possibly necessitating 
reprioritizing priorities in the work plan.   

BOARD FEEDBACK REGARDING SCHEDULE AND SERVICE AREA 

County Planning Commission on July 15 
• Schedule:  One Planning Commission member emphasized the importance of starting the

IGA renewal soon – not waiting until after the plan adoption.  
• Service Area Expansion Question:  Three of the seven Planning Commission members

in attendance saw no need to pursue a Service Area Expansion Assessment for a variety 
of reasons; a fourth was undecided; and the remaining three are new to a BVCP Update 
with limited or no experience in the Area III discussions and therefore had no comments.   

• Additional detailed comments are summarized in Attachment E.

Planning Board on July 16  
• Schedule:  Planning Board members stated that the schedule looked good or had no

comment. 
• Service Area Expansion Question:  All five members present stated that they are not

currently interested in directing staff to do the do the Service Area Expansion Assessment 
(study of sufficient merit) and do not see a compelling reason to expand into the Planning 
Reserve.  The board wanted to give property owners the opportunity to share their 
concepts with City Council on July 28 so it did not make a formal recommendation.  

• Additional detailed comments are summarized in Attachment E.

CITY COUNCIL STUDY SESSION ON JUNE 9  
At a June 9, 2015 Study Session, City Council provided feedback and guidance on the BVCP.  
The summary of that discussion is scheduled for approval at the July 28, 2015 council meeting. 

PUBLIC FEEDBACK 
Staff has heard from several property owners that they would like to submit requests for changes 
to the Area III-Planning Reserve and begin the Service Area Expansion process.  July 28 provides 
an opportunity for a public hearing for property owners to speak to the question of whether or not 
to consider a Service Area Expansion Assessment.  The week of July 13, the city notified all 
property owners by mail about the public hearing.  Additionally, the city provided general notice 
to the community about the public hearing; sent emails to all planning email and BVCP 
subscribers about the hearing; and notified via emails the two property owners who have recently 
indicated interest.   

BACKGROUND 
As shared with council at previous study sessions, Phase 1 of the four phased 2015 BVCP update 
is nearing completion.  Most of the foundations (technical) work products will be complete by 
late July/early August, as previously shared with council. Regular check-ins with boards and 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 3Packet Page 29



elected officials have helped to shape the work thus far.  Preparations for Phase 2 (identify focus 
topics) and Phase 3 (analyze/update land use & integrate other topics) are in-process.  A major 
kickoff event will be held at Chautauqua on August 31 along with other pop up events, speakers, 
videos, and online engagement in the months of August and September.  

ANALYSIS 

Work Plan and Schedule for Change Requests 

Overall Work Plan 
Input and guidance received to-date from elected officials, boards and commissions, and the 
public has resulted in continual refinements to the process and approach for the 2015 BVCP 
update.  A revised timeline summarizing the BVCP work plan and schedule is provided as 
Attachment A.  The new timeline reflects additional detail in Phases 2 and 3 related to the BVCP 
survey, service area expansion and land use request processes, areas of focus, the 
Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA), and other plan products and timing.   

The BVCP process subcommittee reviewed the schedule at their meeting on July 15.  
Additionally, the Planning Commission and Planning Board reviewed the schedule and provided 
a few comments which are now reflected in the schedule.  

General Change Request Process – Opportunity for Landowners and General Public 
The Amendment Procedures chapter of the BVCP explains the process for updating the land use 
map or plan polices during the five-year update. It states:   

The process “will include an opportunity for landowners and the general public 
to submit requests for changes to the plan.  All submittals for proposed changes 
will be reviewed at initial public hearings.  Staff will provide recommendations 
and the approval bodies will provide direction on which proposals should go 
forward and which proposals should receive no further consideration.”   

Typically during an update, there may be a few dozen community-initiated requests for changes 
to the land use map or policies.  For the 2015 BVCP update, staff expects the land use request 
process to be a significant area of work, as interest is running high for several properties 
including the Boulder Community Health Broadway site and others.  Service Area Contractions 
would also be considered as part of this track.  

During this five year update (for the purpose of all requests that are not Service Area Expansion 
requests), staff proposes the following schedule: 

(1) Accepting requests (August through mid October).   
(2) Initial review of requests (October into early November).  
(3) Joint screening hearing of the Planning Board and City Council (Nov. 19, tent.) and 

action by Planning Board. The joint hearing will also provide an opportunity for the 
board and council to review the results of the BVCP survey and identify other areas of 
focus for the land use map and policies.   

(4) City Council determination following joint hearing. 
(5) Joint hearing at the city will be followed by hearing(s) at the county. 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 4Packet Page 30



(6) Continued analysis of changes and other focused area changes to develop a proposed land 
use map (into early 2016). 

According to the BVCP, when a draft land use map is developed with the proposed changes, 
property owners will be notified about such proposed changes.  The city will publish a map 
indicating where the proposed changes are located and a description of each change when that 
map is ready. 

Other Possible Areas of Focus and Changes to Land Uses 
The city and county may also identify other possible changes to the land use map in focused areas 
to accomplish other community goals such as housing or growth management (e.g. change some 
areas from future commercial to future residential, or from higher density residential to medium 
density residential) or to adjust the jobs and housing mix.  The trends information and forecasts 
will help inform possible areas of study.  Such ideas for focused areas of study are proposed to be 
discussed at the joint hearings in November and December.   

The work plan has been designed to accommodate anticipated focused topics of the plan, which 
are outlined in Attachment B and also noted on the work plan in Attachment A.   

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends that council approve the general schedule, recognizing that details may change 
and that focused topics may get refined depending on input from the public in August.  
Additionally, the detailed timing and approach to Phases 3 and 4 will continually be refined 
throughout the planning process.    

Service Area Expansion Assessment Question and Requests 
During each five year review, the city and county must assess whether or not the Service Area 
should be expanded if sufficient merit (unmet need in the service area) exists to develop an 
expansion plan. The process is described in detail in Attachment C. For this update, staff is 
requesting direction from City Council and the three other BVCP review bodies on whether or 
not a Service Area Expansion assessment should begin as part of the 2015 update, and to further 
define the process and schedule and accept requests from property owners for the purpose of 
requesting service area expansions. 

Attachment C provides more detailed explanation about the Service Area expansion process, but 
a brief description is provided here.  The Service Area concept and the creation of Areas I, II, and 
III are a keystone of the BVCP, and in combination with joint city/county decision-making are a 
distinguishing feature of the plan.  In 1977, Area III was designated as the rural 
preservation/protection area – the area outside the city that would not accommodate future urban 
development.   

In 1993, after extensive evaluation, the 680 acre Area III-Planning Reserve on the north side of 
Boulder was designated as the only location for potential urban expansion.  At that time, the 
plan’s amendment procedures were modified to define a process and criteria for Service Area 
expansions that would be initiated by the city and county and provide for comprehensive planning 
of the Area III-Planning Reserve.  Service Area expansion, if and when it occurs, should provide 
a broad range of community benefits and because there are desired community needs that cannot 
be met within the existing service area.   

Agenda Item 2B     Page 5Packet Page 31



In 2005 additional text was added to the plan to strengthen the intent of the expansion process and 
define “sufficient merit” as a precursor to authorizing the development of a Service Area 
Expansion Plan.  A new criterion for approval of such plan was added requiring that a Service 
Area Expansion would provide for a “priority need that cannot be met within the existing service 
area.”  The threshold question of whether or not to begin the Service Area Expansion process 
requires all four bodies to determine that “sufficient merit exists to authorize a Service Area 
expansion plan.” Such a study can take four months to a year to complete.     

In past updates, some of the BVCP approval bodies have expressed frustration with the Service 
Area Expansion process because requests have been solicited from Area III property owners as 
part of the public request process leading owners to invest time, effort, and energy in creating 
proposals.  After extensive evaluation and deliberation, one or more of the approval bodies have 
then not been interested in authorizing an expansion of the Service Area.   

The amendment procedures section of the BVCP guides the city and county to notify property 
owners who would be affected (in the Planning Reserve) if a Service Area Expansion plan is to 
be developed.  At the July 28 City Council meeting, a public hearing will enable property owners 
and the public to speak to whether the city and county should proceed with consideration of a 
Service Area Expansion Assessment (study of merit) as part of the 2015 update.  Depending on 
council’s direction or on July 28, the next steps of the process could vary as follows:   

• Yes to Study - If City Council directs staff to move forward with the study, staff will ask
the Board of County Commissioners (BOCC) the same threshold question.  If the county
also says yes, staff would further define the multi-month process to study the range of
community needs and how they may or may not be currently met within the existing
Service Area.  Staff would also invite property owners to participate.

• No to Study - If City Council or BOCC directs staff to not move forward, the next
opportunity to consider a Service Area expansion will be during the next five year
review.

Since 1993, the city and county have never proceeded to do a Service Area Expansion 
Assessment even though applicants have submitted requests earlier in the planning process. 

Staff Recommendation 
Staff recommends that council not direct staff to move forward with the Service Area Assessment 
(study of sufficient merit) because the city and community have not identified an unmet priority 
need in the service area; initial analysis suggests the service area has capacity for infill and 
redevelopment; the study would be a large scope of work, and the staff team at the city and 
county anticipate important analysis on other projects as part of the BVCP; and, the city and 
county have never proceeded to the Service Area Expansion study of sufficient merit even though 
applicants have submitted requests in past updates.  The BVCP intends that the planning process 
should be proactive and comprehensive rather than reactive to proposals.      

Community Engagement 
Staff has continued to refine the community engagement plan after input from the community, 
Planning Board, City Council, County Planning Commission, Board of County Commissioners, 
and Process Subcommittee. The latest Community Engagement Plan can be downloaded from the 
BVCP project webpage here.  Recent refinements to the community engagement approach 
include:   

Agenda Item 2B     Page 6Packet Page 32

https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan


• Postcard Mailing - The BVCP Process Subcommittee recommended moving ahead with
a postcard to all Boulder Valley addresses announcing the kickoff for the update and
providing information on how to get involved.  Staff will work with Boulder County to
ensure that the announcement is mailed to addresses in Areas II and III as well as within
city limits.

• Kickoff Event - A communitywide “Boulder 2030” kickoff event will be held on
Monday, August 31, from 4 to 8 p.m. at Chautauqua, with a presentation at 6:30.  The
event will include videos and presentations about the plan and its importance in the
community, information about current conditions and trends, interactive ways of
capturing community input, and family activities.

• Targeted Outreach to Groups - Staff is in the process of reaching out to civic and
neighborhood organizations and offering to have a city staff member join them to talk
about the update process and get input.  These meetings will be scheduled from July
through September.

• Pop-Up Meetings - Staff will be setting up “pop-up” meetings in conjunction with
community events and at gathering places around town in August and possibly
September.  The purpose of these meetings is to provide information, increase awareness
about the plan process, invite people to engage, and ask initial questions about what
people love about Boulder and their ideas and concerns for the future.

• BVCP Videos – To produce the first few videos in the series, the city has hired Boulder-
based Balcony Nine Media to produce two videos that will be shared throughout the
update process. The “Our Legacy: Boulder Past and Present” video will help educate
community members about important planning decisions that have shaped Boulder today.
The “Our Future: Boulder 2030” video will serve as a call to action to encourage Boulder
community members to participate in the update.

• BVCP Survey - After a competitive bid process, the Boulder-based firm RRC Associates
has been selected to conduct a statistically valid survey on planning-related topics to
inform the BVCP update.  Their proposed approach is to conduct a mailed survey
supplemented by follow-up focus groups to delve into the “why” regarding responses
given. The process for topic selection and question development is underway.  Draft
questions will be shared with boards and elected officials in August, with the goal of
distributing the survey to the public in September.  It is expected that results from the
survey and focus group will be available in late November.

Preliminary 2040 Projections 
Twenty-five year growth projections are produced as part of the foundations work for each major 
update to the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan.  The projections help frame the context of the 
update and provide an important reference for the policy decisions and conversations about land 
use, zoning, and growth that are integral to the BVCP.  The 2015 projections, once finalized, may 
be revised following changes to the plan based on policy considerations such as future housing 
mix, location for future mixed use, and balance of jobs and housing.   

A high-level summary of existing numbers and future employment results is presented in Table 1 
below.  Staff presented current estimates and projected residential and non-residential capacity 
for subcommunity and service area geographies to Planning Board in July but determined that the 
model was overestimating residential numbers because it was assigning capacity to parcels 
smaller than the minimum lot size.  Therefore the model is undergoing an additional round of 
processing and verification.  Projections will be available in early August.   

Agenda Item 2B     Page 7Packet Page 33



Table 1:  Preliminary 2040 Projections – Subject to Refinement 
Dwellings Population Employment 

2015 2040 2015 2040 2015 2040 
City 
Limits 

44,270 TBD 103,840 TBD 98,510 117,280 

Area II 5,710 TBD 12,030 TBD 2,920 3,480 

Since 2002, each BVCP update has incorporated methodology refinements from previous years 
and introduced new improvements. In 2015, the city slightly refined its methodology and has 
begun to use CommunityViz software to enhance the capacity calculations.  The refinements 
include a more accurate estimate of current employment using refined source data and 
calculations coordinated with the University of Colorado, Boulder Economic Council and other 
organizations that provide employment numbers.  It also entails a more accurate estimate of 
future residential zoning growth capacity and future growth of mixed use zones due to the 
modeling capability of CommunityViz and ability to factor in constraints such as floodplains.  

Updates on Other Foundations Technical Work Products 
Work on technical foundations tasks is on-going, with several work products nearing completion, 
and others underway and scheduled for completion prior to the public kickoff event in August. 
Planning Board will have an opportunity to review completed versions at the Aug. 20 meeting. 
Specific updates on individual work products are provided below. 

• Community Profile- The 2015 community profile, partially updated in April, provides a
snapshot of the Boulder community. The April update of the community profile can be
downloaded from the project website. The community profile is being updated in July to
incorporate new information from the 2040 BVCP forecasts. Other updates planned for
July include refined information regarding non-residential square footage, data sources,
relationship to State Department of Local Affairs demographic information, and other
information as requested by city council.  An updated draft of the Community Profile will
be posted to the project website and shared with council upon its completion.

• Subcommunity and Regional Fact Sheets- As part of the map inventory updates, a
series of ten fact sheets are being prepared: for each of the nine Boulder subcommunities,
and one for Area III (located outside of the city but within the BVCP planning area). The
fact sheets share historic information and document existing conditions at the
local/neighborhood level.  An updated community fact sheet for Central boulder is
included in Attachment D as a sample work product.  Draft versions of the remaining
fact sheets will be posted to the project website prior to the meeting.

• Trends Report- The Trends Report highlights Boulder’s trends of today and the recent
past and presents this information at the city, county, and regional scales.  Work is
underway to complete the report, as well as to incorporate input received from elected
officials, boards, commissions, and city and county staff.  Work on the Trends Report
will be completed prior to the community kickoff event in August.  A draft version will
be posted on the website prior to the meeting.

Agenda Item 2B     Page 8Packet Page 34

https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan
https://bouldercolorado.gov/planning/boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan


NEXT STEPS 
Aug 4, 2015 Board of County Commissioners Briefing and Discussion of Service Area 

Expansion question 
Aug 19, 2015 BVCP Process Subcommittee 
Aug 20, 2015 City Planning Board Update 
Aug 25, 2015 City Council Briefing and State Demographer Presentation (tentative) 
Aug 31, 2015 Public Kickoff Event at Chautauqua 
Sept/Oct, 2015 Joint Planning Commission/Planning Board Briefing and updates to other 

boards and commissions (dates to be determined) 
Nov. 19 (tent.) Joint Meeting of the City Council and Planning Board to consider initial 

screening of parcels, survey results, areas of focus, possible policy changes 

ATTACHMENTS 
A. BVCP Work Plan Timeline  
B. Outline of Focused Topics  
C. Service Area Expansion Process Summary 
D. Sample Updated Subcommunity Fact Sheet for Central Boulder 
E. Summary of Planning Commission (July 15) and Planning Board (July 16) discussions 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 9Packet Page 35



2015 Update: Work Plan
Jan

2015
Jul Aug Sept Oct Nov Jan 2016Dec Feb March Apr May Jun July Aug

Phase 3: 
Analyze + Update Land use, and Integrate 
other topics  
What are Choices and Directions for the Update? 

Updated 7/20/2015

Phase 4:
Draft Plan and IGA 
Renewal

Phase 1:
Foundations and 
Community Engagement 
Plan
What are existing 
conditions?

What are the Focused  
Topics and Issues?

Phase 2: 
Identify Focus Topics

Pr
od

uc
ts

     Draft
   Foundations
  Technical 
 Work

     Refine 
   Issues +
 Accomplish-
ments

  Areas of
 focus, Survey 
Results, Initial 
Screening

    Draft Policy 
  + Land Use
Analysis 

     Develop 
   Actions, 
  Strategies,
+Metrics

     Draft 
Land Use 
Map

 Prepare 
 Updated 
Draft 
Plan Adopt

Plan

Renew 
IGA

Foundations Technical 
Work includes:

1) Update 2015 “Profiles”
2) Prepare 2040 Forecasts
3) Prepare Trends Snapshot
4) Prepare Map Inventory 
Updates

5) Align Master Plans and 
Measurable  Objectives/Metrics
6) Prepare 3D Urban Form Tools
7) Identify Initial Accomplishments
 and Challenges

Co
m

m
un

it
y 

En
ga

ge
m

en
t

SS

H
an

ds
 O

n 
M

ee
tin

gs
/

Su
rv

ey
s

TR
AC

K 
2:

  
O

th
er

 P
la

n 
U

pd
at

es
 ( 

“H
ou

se
ke

ep
in

g 
an

d 
“A

lig
nm

en
t”

) 
fo

r l
oc

al
 fo

od
, 

tr
an

sp
or

ta
tio

n,
 

cl
im

at
e,

 e
co

lo
gy

, 
re

si
lie

nc
e,

 a
rt

 
am

d 
cu

ltu
re

BVCP Survey 

Service Area Expanison

Land Use Request Change
& Service Area Contractions

(e.g. resilience, growth management, jobs/housing balance, housing goals)

(e.g. local foods, transportation, climate ecology, art and culture)

D
ig

ita
l

M
et

ho
ds

R
el

at
ed

 
Pr

oj
ec

t 
Ev

en
ts

Meetings Shared with 
Housing Boulder

May 11-19

Climate/Energy 
Blueprint Event

Housing Boulder 
Strategy

Human Services
Master Plan

Design Excellence/ 
Form Based Code

Transportation 
Living Lab

5/20

AMPS
4/29

BOCC
8/4

TBDTBDBOCCCC

SS

CC CC
7/28

CC
Briefing

CC
CC

PBPB

PB
6/4

BOCC
4/30 PB

7/16 CC

Other Boards and 
Commissions

Sept/Oct 

Draft Survey Questions

Public Hearing and
 Inquiry about process

Announce request 
process

Areas  of  Focus   Track

Integration     Track/   Other    Updates & IGA Renewal

Requests Open Requests Due Initial Screening

Identify Areas
of Focus 

Identify Possible Areas 
for Policy Changes

Present Draft
Policy Language

Begin IGA
Renewal

Refine Areas of
Focus-Develop 

Options

Options
Analysis

Evaluate Parcels Proposed Changes

Draft land use Roll into Draft Plan

Draft Policy Language

Feed into Land use
Plan 

If yes, begin 3-4 month assessment of “sufficient merit” and accept requests; if no - no further action on service area until next five-year update

Survey Results

Other Boards and 
Commissions 

PB
8/20

8/25

Options & Anaylsis
 3D Model Draft Plan

4/7

Open 
House

Community 
Engagement Plan

4/6 4/9 Online Polling Through 4/17

8/15- 9/15

Mail & Online
Surveys

Areas of Focus

(Possible mail and 
online 

Survey #2)

(April)
Timing TBD

Kick Off Month
Issues + Ideas

8/31

Attend Comm. 
Organizations 

Meetings

HousingMeeting 
“To Go” Mid May

Technical + Focused 
Groups

Meeting “To Go”

Focus Groups
for Survey

PB

Sept. or early Oct.

PC

PB

Jointly

PC
PC

(TBD)

BOCC

PC
Jan

PB

PC
BOCC BOCCPC

PB
7/15

CC
3/31 4/16 6/9

Key

City Council

Boulder County 
Commissioners

City Planning
Board

County Planning 
Commission

BOCC

CC

PC

PB

Other Boards and 
Commissions

All Digital Access

Public Events

Early
Dec.

Webinar

7/28

11/9
12/10

10/28/10

Fo
cu

se
d 

+ 
Te

ch
ni

ca
l

G
ro

up
s

Web, Inspire 
Boulder, 

Channel 8

Web, Inspire 
Boulder, 

Channel 8

Web, Inspire 
Boulder, 

Channel 8

Web, Inspire 
Boulder, 

Channel 8

Options 
with anaylsis  

charrette

(11/19
(tent.)

Open 
House

Technical 
Review

Technical 
Review

Agenda Item 2B     Page 10Packet Page 36



Attachment B:  Outline of Focused Topics for BVCP 

At the June 9 study session, City Council confirmed and refined the following list of focused 
topics for the 2015 Plan update which have evolved from findings of the consultant report from 
late 2014/early 2015 (available online here) and recent discussions at boards, commissions, 
BOCC, and City Council.  Planning Commission and Planning Board also provided guidance on 
these topics in July. 

• Substantive New Topics to be Addressed in the Plan:
o Growth Management and Urban Form

 Jobs/Housing Balance
 Future housing mix
 Urban design and character

o Neighborhoods / Neighborhood Character
o “21st Century” Opportunities and Challenges, including:

 Climate Commitment and Energy
 Resilience / Regional issues
 Arts and Culture
 Local Food

• Process Improvements:
o Improve Community Engagement
o Make the Plan’s Vision and Values More Compelling
o Add Stronger Links between Policies and Actions and Implementation
o Add Metrics
o Address City/County Intergovernmental Agreement Early

Agenda Item 2B     Page 11Packet Page 37

https://www-static.bouldercolorado.gov/docs/assessment-boulder-valley-comprehensive-plan-1-201503180850.pdf


Area III-Planning Reserve and the Service Area Expansion Process 

1. Background on the Area III-Planning Reserve
The Service Area concept and the creation of Areas I, II, and III is one of the 
keystones of the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan (BVCP), and in combination 
with joint city/county decision-making, distinguishes the plan from many others in 
the state and country.  Area I (the city) and Area II (the area planned for annexation 
and service provision) form the city’s service area.  Area III was defined in 1977 to 
not accommodate urban development and that the rural character should be preserved 
and protected.   

The Planning Areas remained as originally defined until 1993, at the conclusion of the 
Area III Planning Project.  The Area III Planning Project was a three-year joint effort of 
the city and county planning departments.  The city and the county had been receiving 
incremental requests for Area III to Area II changes, particularly along the Jay Road 
corridor and East Arapahoe, and the plan did not provide guidance as to where such a 
change would be appropriate.  The goal was to determine where and when urban growth 
might and might not be acceptable in the future, prior to considering Service Area 
expansions.   

The following studies were completed as part of the project: 
(1) Land Use Suitability Analysis;  
(2) Urban Services Feasibility Analysis;  
(3) Vacant, Redevelopable and Underdeveloped Land Inventories in the existing 

Service Area;  
(4) Potential Service Area Expansion/BVCP Policy Compatibility Analysis; and 
(5) Gunbarrel Policy Analysis.   

At the conclusion of the project, city and county decision-makers determined that only a 
small amount of Area III should be contemplated for future urban expansion, and then 
only if detailed planning for the area indicates community benefits exceed potential 
negative impacts.  The final report states:  

  “Service Area expansion is not desirable simply to provide additional land 
supply for future development; it must provide a broad range of community 
benefits…conceptual planning should provide an analysis of cumulative impacts 
and whether the carrying capacity of the Boulder Valley can absorb this additional 
growth…and should also provide an evaluation of trade-offs in meeting 
conflicting community goals.” 

After a series of public hearings the four approval bodies agreed in the fall of 1993 to: 
• Designate 680 acres in the "West Portion-Northcentral Area" site as Area III-

Planning Reserve because it presented very limited environmental constraints,
was proximate to urban services, and was of sufficient overall size to potentially
accommodate the conclusions of the future vacant land needs analysis.

• Designate the remainder of Area III as “Area III- Rural Preservation Area.”

Agenda Item 2B     Page 12Packet Page 38



The procedures for amending the plan were changed following the project to set in place 
a process for service area expansions that would be initiated by the city and county, and 
provide for comprehensive planning of the Planning Reserve as opposed to incremental 
changes.    

The policy direction for determining the procedures for amending the Area III/II 
change process was described in 1993 as the following: 

1. Consider limited Service Area expansion to include land in the Planning
Reserve Area if the benefits to the community outweigh costs and negative
impacts.

2. Revise the Area III to II change process to change it from an incremental,
reactive, applicant driven process to a process based on comprehensive
planning of growth areas and city-initiated Area III/II changes.  The revised
Area II/II change process and criteria must establish greater community
control over the location, type, acreage, and timing of development.

3. Service Area expansion is not desirable simply to provide additional land for
future development—it must provide a broad range of community benefits.

4. Area II to II changes should be large enough areas to cohesively plan and
annex by neighborhoods (which should have a diversity of land uses) and to
build logical increments for infrastructure.

5. In order to achieve community goals and policies, the city should be more
directive in determining what actually gets built both for development in the
existing Service Area and for any new growth areas (in Area III).

6. Require that new growth (in Area II and Area III) provide needed land uses
that are complimentary to existing subcommunities and that implement a
broad range of community goals.  Development of land in new growth areas
should be phased over many years in order to enhance growth management,
encourage appropriate infill and redevelopment in the existing Service Area,
and preserve development options for the future.

The procedures and text that developed out of this policy direction is still found in the 
plan today, including:  

1. Area II to II changes only apply to lands in the Area III-Planning Reserve, not
the Area III-Rural Preservation Area, unless the change can qualify as a minor
amendment to the boundary.

2. A process for expanding the Service Area boundary was established
3. A Service Area Expansion Plan process was created, with a list of what the

plan must contain, and the criteria that the plan must meet.
4. The role of property owners in the Service Area expansion process is

established.

Since the original procedures were adopted into the plan, several minor revisions and re-
organizations have occurred, however the key elements of the process remain intact.   

Of most significance was the change that occurred in 2005, when additional text was 
added to define “sufficient merit” to authorize the development of a service area 
expansion plan, and a new criterion for approval of a service area expansion plan was 
added requiring that the change provides for a “priority need that cannot be met within 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 13Packet Page 39



YES 

Staff and community identify 

range of community needs, 

and if they cannot be met 

within the service area. 

Expansion Plan Cannot be 

considered until next 

Major Update 

4-body Public Hearings:   

Sufficient Merit to 

Authorize Expansion Plan? 

YES 

(All Four Bodies) 

NO 
(Any One Body) 

Public Hearings:   

Approve Proposed Plan? 

Prepare Expansion Plan 

NO: 

(Any one Body) 

YES 

(All Four Bodies) 

Service Area Expansion Process

Property Moves from Area III to Area II (Eligible for Annexation) 

Public Hearing to discuss Service Area Expansion: 

Should the City study if sufficient merit (unmet need 

in service area) exists to develop expansion plan? 

NO 

the existing service area.”  This was added to strengthen the intent of the service area 
expansion process as a comprehensive, city initiated process.  The result of these two 
changes was the addition of an initial community process to identify a list of unmet needs 
prior to considering whether to authorize a service area expansion plan.  This process is 
further explained in the following section.    

In researching other communities, many utilize an urban service area or growth 
boundaries, and some have vacant lands designated for specific land uses while others 
have no future use identified.  Of the communities researched, none had a provision for 
future land reserved for the future needs of the community, such as described in the 
BVCP.     

The closest example of a system similar to that of the Area III-Planning Reserve in the 
BVCP is the Urban Reserves program recently established by the Oregon Metro Regional 
Government.  Metro’s program is on 
a regional scale, and has identified 
lands in  
Clackamas, Multnomah and 
Washington counties that are 
appropriate for future urban 
development, and lands for 
rural preservation.  The time 
horizon of the urban 
reserves is 50 years.  The 
system was established to 
eliminate the incremental, 
site-specific decision 
making that was required as 
part of urban growth 
boundary changes as 
required by Oregon state 
law.  The guidelines and 
policies for how an urban 
reserve can be moved inside the 
urban growth boundary includes 
a comprehensive planning 
process, much like the 
Service Area Expansion Plan 
process in the BVCP.   

The current process to 
develop land in the 
Planning Reserve 

The process to develop land 
in the Area III-Planning 
Reserve has very distinct 
steps, and joint decision-

Agenda Item 2B     Page 14Packet Page 40



making points.  The process is outlined in the flow chart above.   

The threshold question to begin the service area expansion process requires all four 
bodies to determine that “sufficient merit exists to authorize a service area expansion 
plan.” 

In order to find that “sufficient merit exists”, there must be a process where a list of 
desired community needs is compiled and analyzed to find if there are any 
community needs that are currently nor being met within the existing service area.  
The scope and detail of this study could vary, and take anywhere from 4 months to a 
year to complete. 

If all four bodies authorize the development of a service area expansion plan, it is a 
significant joint city-county planning effort, similar in scope to a subcommunity 
planning effort.  The BVCP outlines what the expansion plan must include, and is 
estimated to take 1-3 years to develop.   

After the expansion plan is completed, all four bodies must review and consider 
whether to approve the plan, based on criteria listed in the BVCP.  If approved, the 
area included in the plan is moved from Area III-Planning Reserve to Area II.  
Property owners may then begin the annexation and development process according 
to the phasing identified in the expansion plan and the extension of city infrastructure.  
The period of development for the area within the expansion plan is described in the 
BVCP to occur within 15 years.   

BVCP Plan language BVCP Process and Steps 

1. Considering a service area expansion may
only occur at the five-year update. 

A. Discussions regarding service area expansion only occur 
during the five-year update.   

2. The city and county may assess whether or
not sufficient merit exists to authorize a service 
area expansion, defined by a demonstration that 
a desired community need cannot be met within 
the existing service area.  

C. The City considers whether to direct staff to identify a 
desired range of community needs that may not be met 
within the existing service area.  If city directs staff to 
identify a range of community needs, the process 
continues.    
(The city and county have never proceeded beyond this 
step) 

D. The city conducts a public process to identify a range of 
community needs and how they may or may not be currently 
met within the existing service area.   

E. The Planning Board, City Council, Planning Commission, 
and County Commissioners hold public hearings to review 
the identified range of community needs, and determine if 
sufficient merit exists to authorize a service area expansion 
plan to be developed.  If all four bodies find that sufficient 
merit exists, the process continues.   

3. The City and County authorize a planning
effort to develop a service area expansion plan 

F. The city and county conduct a public process to develop a 
service area expansion plan for the area identified to be 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 15Packet Page 41



for the area proposed to be brought into the 
service area in consultation with the Area III 
property owners and the public.  The plan must 
address the types of development, key 
requirements to ensure compliance with 
community goals and policies, conceptual land 
use and infrastructure plans, requirements for 
development impact mitigation and offsets, and 
the phasing of development.    

brought into the service area.   

4. Following preparation of the plan, the city
and county must determine that the proposed 
change from Area III-Planning Reserve to Area 
II meets the following criteria:  
a) Provision of a community need
b) Minimum size of 40 acres
c) Minimum contiguity to existing service area
of 1/6 
d) logical extension of service area
e) Compatibility with the surrounding area and
comprehensive plan 
f) No major negative impacts
g) Appropriate timing for annexation within the
next 15 years.  

G. The Planning Board, City Council, Planning 
Commission, and County Commissioners hold public 
hearings to review the service area expansion plan, and 
determine if the area proposed to change from Area III-
Planning Reserve to Area II meets the criteria in the 
plan.  If approved, the area is moved to Area II.   

H. Annexation and Development occurs in the next 15 years 
according to the service area expansion plan.   

Agenda Item 2B     Page 16Packet Page 42



A L L  A B O U T

CENTRAL
BOULDER

I like that my 
neighborhod is dense and 
diverse... Many housing 
types, historic homes, and 
lots of kids!

“

F A C T  S H E E T   V  1 . 0  M A Y  2 0 1 5
This  is  1  of  9  Community Fact  Sheets
www.bouldercolorado.gov/planning

Located in the heart of the city, Central Boulder is a dynamic and diverse 
place.  The area is rich with iconic Boulder locations, including Downtown 
and the Pearl Street Mall, University Hill, Boulder Creek, and Chautauqua. 
As such, Central Boulder offers some of the best shopping, restaurants, 
services, entertainment and recreation opportunities in the state.  It is a 
hub of civic activity and a central gathering place for the community and 
the region, and a variety of iconic events such as the Farmers’ Market, 
Boulder Creek Festival, and many others, are hosted here. Central Boulder 
is also one of the oldest and most historic parts of the city.  Nearly all of 
Boulder’s designated historic districts are located in this area, and many 
more neighborhoods and districts are potentially eligible for designation.  
Well-connected to the rest of the city and with a diverse collection of 
places to explore and things to do, Central Boulder stands out as the civic 
and cultural core of the community.
D R A F T

T R A N S I T

84 % of subcommunity within
1/4 mile of transit

LIFESTYLE

NATURE & CLIMATE

GETTING AROUND

203.81 miles in Boulder Valley

32.69 miles

B I K E  L A N E S  &  T R A I L S

W A T E R  F E A T U R E S

5% (city average)

1.48% of missing sidewalk links

S I D E W A L K  G A P S

N E I G H B O R H O O D  A C C E S S

P A R K S  &  O P E N  S P A C E

B V S D  S C H O O L S

Foothills Elementary
Columbine Elementary
Whittier Elementary
Flatirons Elementary
University Hill Elementary

Casey Middle

New Vista High

To be included in next draft

Wetlands
.45% of area
12.16 acres

100 Year Floodplains
13.57% of area
366.03 acres

17 parks   1 pedestrian mall (Pearl St.)

1 recreation center 1 community center

1 senior center 1 outdoor pool 

1 pottery lab 1 studio

4  trailheads

Boulder Creek

Gregory Creek

Goose Creek

Skunk Creek

Other
12 Acres

%

E X I S T I N G  L A N D  U S E

Parks/OSMP
285 Acres

Residential
1,472 Acres

Commercial + 
Mixed-Use

161 Acres

7 2 %  

8 %

Public
100 Acres

5%

1 4 %  

28% % of subcommunity within
1/4 mile of a trailhead

Agenda Item 2B     Page 17Packet Page 43



PEOPLE & HOUSING

29,515 (2015 estimate)

34,045 (2040 projection)

15,470 (2040 projection)

P O P U L A T I O N

13,321 (2015)

T O T A L  D W E L L I N G  U N I T S

H O U S I N G  U N I T  M I X

4 3 %

1 2 %

Single-Family
Detached  

5,746

Attached   1,564

27,448 (2040)

23,582 (2015)

7.3 units/acre (city average)

8.87 units/acre

< 5,999 sq ft. 6,000-10,000 sq ft. >10,000sq ft. 

16.4%
(879)

59.0%
(3163)

24.6%
(1322)

D E N S I T Y  ( D W E L L I N G  U N I T S / R E S I D E N T I A L  A C R E )

R A N G E  O F  S I N G L E  F A M I L Y  L O T  S I Z E

4 5 %
Multi-Family
5,999

Manufactured
3 
0%

D R A F T

B
O

U
LD

ER
 M

O
U

N
T

A
IN

 P
A

R
K

S

EXISTING LAND USE

A L L  A B O U T

CENTRAL
BOULDER

T O T A L  J O B S

Agenda Item 2B     Page 18Packet Page 44



1859
1870

1880s

1892

1. The Boulder City-Town 
Company is established.

2. The First Methodist Church is 
founded as Boulder’s first faith 

community.

1860

1865

Abner Brown 
builds the first 
schoolhouse in 

what would 
become the state 

of Colorado.  

Boulder’s 
first 

County 
Court-

house is 
built. 

The first burial at 
Columbia 

Cemetery takes 
place. 

1. The Boulder 
Community Hospital 

opens in the former Ben 
Hagman House at 2705 

Broadway.

2. Boulder’s first 
auto park opens on 
what is    presently 

known as Eben G. 
Fine Park.  

Central School 
graduates its first 
high school class, 

the same year 
that CU is 

established.

1876

1906 1931

1932

Whittier 
School opens. 

It is the longest 
continually 

operating 
school in 

Colorado.

1882

1894
The Boulder-Colo-
rado Sanitarium is 

established. 

1921

Goss Grove, 
Whittier, and 

Mapleton Hill, 
Boulder’s 

earliest 
neighborhoods, 

begin to 
develop. 

Mount St. 
Gertrude 

Academy is 
established.  

Crystal 
Springs 

Brewing and 
Ice Company 

takes over 
Boulder City 

Brewery near 
9th St. and 
Arapahoe 

Ave. 

Boulder 
builds the 
Carnegie 

Library, 
the city’s 

first public 
library.

Boulder’s 
electric 

streetcars 
stop running 

as automo-
biles take 

over.

The first Boulder County Courthouse 
burns down.

1952

The tanks belonging to 
the Federal Gas 
Company building that 
opened in 1904 are 
demolished at 13th and 
Canyon Blvd.

1850 1860 1870 1880 1890 1900 1910 1920 1930 1940 1950 1960

2.

1.

Construction begins on 
the Texas-Colorado 
Chautauqua. The park’s 
most prominent building, 
the auditorium, is 
constructed in less than 
eight weeks. 

CDr. O.M. 
Gilbert 

establishes 
the Mesa 

Vista 
Sanatorium.

1918

1937

1. The Hotel Boulderado 
opens and the first liquor 

license is issued. 
constructed in less than 

eight weeks. 

2. The Post Office at 
15th and Walnut 

Streets is constructed.

1909

1898 1938

2.

1.

2.

1.

19101897
1. Nearly 280 homes are already 

constructed in the Mapleton 
Hill neighborhood with a 

couple hundred more to come 
in the following decades.

2. Frederick Law Olmsted, Jr. 
writes “The Improvement of 

Boulder Colorado,” which 
helped to create a plan for 

Boulder’s future. 

1919

The Switzer-
land Trail train 

ends its service 
from Boulder 

to Ward. 

Boulder High School on Arapahoe Ave. is 
designed by Glen Huntington.

The Boulder Lions 
Club erects a 
Bandshell in 

Central Park. 
Architect Glen 

Huntington designs 
the structure & 

Saco DeBoer is the 
landscape 
architect.

1. 2.

A majority of the historic districts, and 
much of the city’s history, exists 
within Central Boulder. 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 19Packet Page 45



1955 1960 1970 1980 1990 2000 2010

1. 2.

1. 2. 3.

1954

1959

The Boulder Junior Academy has a school built 
on 4th Street.

PLAN-Boulder 
implements 

the “Blue-line” 
to stop 

development 
in Boulder’s 

foothills.

1967
Midland Federal 

and Savings 
Company 

announces plans to 
build a branch 

office designed by 
modernist 

architect Hobart 
Wagener at 13th St. 

& Canyon Blvd. 

Mt. Saint 
Gertrude 
Academy reopens 
as The Academy, a 
retirement 
community. 

The Mapleton Hill 
Historic District is 
designated.  

Boulder Public Library 
expands across Boulder 
creek to 10th St. and 
Arapahoe Ave.

Downtown is designated as an historic 
district.

The Hannah Barker House is 
donated to Historic Boulder, Inc. 
The organization intends to 
rehabilitate the house.

2010

1971 1982

1987
1972

1976

Boulder enacts a building 
height limitation. 

Central School is demolished.

1957 1969

1978

Construction on the nine-story Colorado 
building at Walnut and 14th is complete.

Boulder’s first liquor 
license is issued to the 
Hotel Boulderado. 

City Council 
adopts a 
historic 
preservation 
ordinance.  

1. Chautauqua is designated a local historic district 
and placed on the National Register of Historic 
Places. With support from the State Historic Fund, 
the Chautauqua buildings are restored. 
2. Floral Park is designated as Boulder’ first historic 
district.

3. A House near 6th Pine St. becomes the television 
home for the popular “Mork and Mindy” series. 

1961 1974 1980 1992

James Hunter 
designs a new 
public library for 
Boulder at 9th 
St. and Canyon 
Blvd.

1. The pedestrian mall on Pearl Street is established 
and soon becomes a national example of successful 
outdoor malls. 

2. On February 2nd, Boulder designates its first three 
landmarks: the Squires-Tourtellot House, the First 
Congregational Church, and the Armory Building. 

Boulder History Museum opens its new location “on 
the Hill” at the Harbeck House on Euclid Ave. 

1998
Assembly of the 
Boulder Dushanbe 
Teahouse is completed.

2006

The Boulder 
Chautauqua is 
designated as 
a National 
Historic 
Landmark 
District, one of 
only 24 in 
Colorado.

L O O K I N G  B A C K  A T  T H E  L E G A C Y  O F

CENTRAL
BOULDER

Designated Local  Historic Districts

Potential Local Historic Districts

Central Boulder

Historic Districts

Subcommunities

Photographs and historic facts courtesy of the Boulder Carnegie Branch Library, City 
of Boulder, Denver Public Library Western History & Genealogy Department Digital 
Collections, and Stephen H. Hart Library and Research Center Collections. 

D R A F T

¡
0 0.5 1 miles

Broadw
ay

Canyon

Mapleton

Downtown Boulder

West Pearl

Whittier

Chamberlain

University Hill

Floral Park

Goss Grove

Hillside Road
Grandview
Terrace

University 
Place

Expanded Highland
Lawn

Eben G. Fine Park

Mapleton Hill

10th Street Bungalows

Chautauqua

Agenda Item 2B     Page 20Packet Page 46



Attachment E:   

Summary of Planning Commission and Planning Board feedback in 
July 

A - BVCP – BOULDER COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION UPDATE 
WEDNESDAY, JULY 15, 2015 
3:00 PM – 5:00 P.M. 
1325 PEARL STREET (COURTHOUSE)  

Attendance 
Michael Baker, Ben Blaugrund, Lieschen Gargano, Daniel Hilton, W.C. Pat Shanks, Doug Young, and 
Daniel Hilton 

Study session purpose  
To provide an update to the Boulder County Planning Commission on the community kick off, trends 

report, proposed survey, other foundations work, and upcoming events related to this Five Year Update.  

* Notes below on Planning Commission feedback are grouped by topics corresponding to the
presentation given by staff. 

Work plan & Focused Topics 

 (no comments)

Service Area Expansion 

 Three of the seven PC members in attendance saw no need to pursue a service area expansion

assessment for a variety of reasons (a fourth was on the fence, and the remaining three are new

to a BVCP Update and have had no experience in the Area III discussions, therefore had no

comment):

o Boulder is unique in comparison to any other city in Colorado and perhaps elsewhere –

Area III performs an important role in that. The process for moving Area III lands into the

service area is fine; the status quo is fine; there is no need for the city/county to be

proactive in an expansion.

o The Area III PRA text makes it clear that urbanization is an option, not a mandate. Rural

preservation is equally important absent any compelling, demonstrable, “no other

alternative” scenario to do otherwise.

o A general service area expansion assessment absent a specific plan, proposal, or context

does not yield much because of infrastructure needs and adjacent lands. Impact and

compatibility analyses will vary dependent on what is being considered.

Agenda Item 2B     Page 21Packet Page 47



o Some visioning of what Area III might be/ought to be could be useful rather than

reacting to proposals every five years.

o Issues like providing more affordable housing can be addressed within the existing

service area by looking at underdeveloped and underutilized land capacities if the

political will is there.

o A future need that truly is a community‐wide need, like municipalization of energy, and

has unique land use needs may merit looking at a service area expansion/Planning

Reserve analysis.

Preliminary 2040 Projections 

 Difficulty in reading the heat maps that illustrate additional potential based on zoning capacity

for 1) employment and 2) additional dwelling units. Can they be enhanced or improved?

Other updates  

(Regarding subcommunity & Area III fact sheets and additional work continuing through July, including: 

2015 Community and Affordable Housing Profiles, updates to maps, Trends Report, a 3‐D tool, master 

plan alignment and metrics initial assessment, and a draft on accomplishments and challenges) 

 Area III maps and data are a great addition and show the importance of Area III as a major

component adding to the quality of life and distinct character of the Boulder Valley.

 An Area III population of 7,500 and its area of 44,000 acres (nearly three times as much land

area as the city of Boulder) of rural preservation designation under county jurisdiction reinforces

the need and “urgency” to keep the BVCP a city/county collaboration and to renew the IGA

sooner rather than later in the 2015 Update process, as it expires in 2017.

 Information presented as trends, metrics, patterns, graphics are more effective ways to engage
people than just presenting data

Community Engagement 

 The planned depth and breadth of community outreach is impressive

Agenda Item 2B     Page 22Packet Page 48



B - BVCP – CITY OF BOULDER PLANNING BOARD UPDATE  
THURSDAY, JULY 16, 2015 

Attending	

Planning	Board	
Aaron Brockett (chair), Crystal Gray, Leonard May, Elizabeth Payton, John Putnam.  Absent:  Bryan 
Bowen and John Gerstle. 

Staff	
Susan Richstone, Lesli Ellis, Courtland Hyser, Jean Gatza, Caitlin Zacharias 

Overview	
Staff presented an update on the work plan, focused topics, land use categories, community 
engagement and foundations work products.  

Questions	

 Will the postcard differentiate this project from others such as the housing project?  Could put
something on the website.

 Community engagement, is there a message about “why it matters?”  Will have more in other
documents.  It is a big theme of this update ‐ people to be informed and motivated to
participate.  Hope to achieve this with videos and speakers.  Do as much as we can to inform
and motivate – focus on the positive and acknowledge the good work of past.

 Are the original consultants still involved?  How much of their recommendations will make it
into the new plan?  No, they are not under contract for future pieces of work, but so far quite a
few of their recommendations are reflected in the focus areas, engagement suggestions, more
visual materials, metrics, 3D mapping.

 How does the Residential Growth Management System align with the forecasts?  Not limiting
growth due to exemptions; annual growth less than 1%.

 The projections will be an ideal topic to introduce in the 3D modeling.  Show urban form of the
projected growth.

 Love the subcommunity fact sheets.  Will you include the heat maps in these under existing
code ‐ where will there be more infill?  Need to check information and ensure accuracy.  The
idea is to inform people, but we need to determine the best ways to do that given that accuracy
is not at the parcel level.

 Can 3D presentation be at subcommunity level with ability to zoom in?  Intent is to get clear
about where there is potential change and areas with less significant change.

 On the “heat map” approach for the forecasts, have you considered paired maps –showing
existing and future (e.g., inverse of what is potential for development as the more intense color)

 For the fact sheets, how did you pick the quotes?  Can we add more about what people like
about the area?  More quotes will emerge as we go through the process.  Consider a variety of
quotes.  By putting just one quote on the cover it appears to be more defining of the area ‐ have
at least three to complement each other. Quotes add human touch. Quotes are helpful and
prompt people to think about things.  Just portray several perspectives if possible.  Might get
cluttered.  Maybe "fun facts" or something else, e.g. rankings.  Don't want them to be a
distraction.

Agenda Item 2B     Page 23Packet Page 49



 Why does Central Boulder have the largest number of people and housing units compared to
the other subcommunities?  The subcommunities were pre‐defined and approved in the BVCP
many years ago.

Survey – RRC has been retained for initial mail survey and focus groups.  A first survey will address 
higher level questions associated with trends and key topics – growth management, neighborhoods.   
We are considering a second follow up survey early next spring to ask about specific items and proposed 
changes to the plan.  

Feedback	

Work	Plan	

 Is anything changing from past updates? More emphasis on growth management issues ‐ slightly
larger bundle of topics.

 Service area process?  First asking the threshold question before opening request process.
Trying to make process less frustrating, more efficient while still ensuring due process.

 Planning Board would like to receive meeting notes (or a link) from the process subcommittee.

Focused	Topics		
 Maybe housing strategies should be its own topic.

 Under stronger links between policies and actions ‐ when we get all the way through all this ‐
will there be some process to link BVCP and land use code? BVCP policy document ‐ can work
toward clearer guidance to code and decision‐making process. Also there will be processes that
come from this that will direct regulatory changes to be consistent with the policy document.

 Traditionally ‐ there is a next step to initiate a comprehensive rezoning, changes to the policies,
code.  Revision to site review criteria to get better outcomes.  Will these feed into the work
plan?  That discussion will come up in design excellence and form‐based code discussions ‐
consider using in other areas of the community.  Following the pilot ‐ changes to code will likely
come up.  Think this will be more than a handful of changes.

Service	Area	Expansion	Question		
Does Planning Board agree with approach to pose the threshold question prior to initiating a merit 
study, and does the board think 2015 is the right time? 

 Glad staff is taking this tiered approach with the idea of heading off a long process.  We have not
yet identified a need that expanding into the Planning Reserve area would serve.  Would like to 
keep it as a planning reserve for at least another five years.  There could be something really 
remarkable to expand into the service area for (e.g. NCAR type of use ‐ aligned with traditions of 
Boulder ‐ intellectual resource – but we haven't seen anything like that proposed yet) 

 Reserve has to be a truly unique and compelling need to expand.  Don't see anything on the
immediate horizon that would justify that.  There is significant potential for growth within the 
existing city limits ‐ even with needs for affordable housing and desire to increase.   

 Like the clarity of this process.  Possible ideas out there could play into the consideration of this,
so we don’t want to close the door now.  If there were a truly unique and compelling proposal, 
maybe we would be willing to consider it. Or more likely a community partner ‐ e.g. Naropa ‐ 
willing to look.  Don't see a burning need to expand at this time.  

 Agree with comments.  Have a process to hear and/or entertain ideas.  Clarify ‐ we are inviting
property owners to come and speak to council as part of the consideration.  We want to 

Agenda Item 2B     Page 24Packet Page 50



circumvent long processes ‐ find a middle ground ‐ hear initial ideas and make a determination 
whether to move forward.  Any one body can present a ”veto".  

 Confirm that Land Use map requests for Area I will continue forward regardless of the discussion
of the service area.  Yes.  Build more discipline into the process to avoid rabbit holes of analysis
for proposals that generally are not supported.  Provide opportunity for boards to suggest other
changes.

 Don't see a compelling need to open the planning reserve, but don't want to shut the door
without any public input.  Let’s see what happens at the public hearing ‐ raise that question
under matters at a future meeting but generally not interested.

 How do you loop back with community engagement?  Each stage will have a series of
community events ‐ transparent and lots of opportunities to listen and revise to have a more
refined draft plan proposal. Need to ensure there is adequate notification.

Approach	to	Updating	Land	Use	Categories		
Staff asked whether Planning Board agreed with the approach to reorganizing the definitions in the land 
use chapter.  Specific content changes would come later.  Planning Board responded:   

 Like the approach.  Two things: identify topics that we have stumbled over (e.g. “Open Space –
Other”).  Others where there are evolving notions about mixed use.  Why certain categories are
not allowed.  Help triage.

 How the BVCP translates to zoning is the hardest thing to understand.  Would like to see it
explained in a way that is more transparent and explain intended land uses.  Would like to see
description of the purpose of land use categories and how it relates to zoning uses.  Also listing
of the allowed zoning districts for the different land uses.  Not always a 1:1 relationship ‐ might
be a guide and not accepted in the plan. Even if there are difficulties they are worth
overcoming.  They should map to each other even if it requires a bunch of footnotes.

 Like the proposed new simplified structure.  Consider a new category similar to environmental
preservation: a "Historic preservation" land use designation ‐ overlap with historic districts.

Projection	Methods		
 Is there value in indicating what can be changed by right vs. by discretionary review in the

assumptions?  Approach seems sound.

 Agree the gradients of the heat map are misleading and imply more potential  ‐ at least
eliminate one category at the bottom of the scale.  Have the growth projections.  Can we add a
growth per year rate?

 Methods ‐ nature of employment is changing ‐ tech firms rapidly expanding and numbers are
always in flux. Factored into methodology ‐ generated data of number of employees that are
mapped.  Clarified process; use info to craft assumptions for sq ft per employee.

 Important to look at number of employees and type of employment –  impacts, range of types
of jobs, understanding of how that is changing is important.  Issue of people who live in Boulder
‐ do new jobs satisfy the needs of existing residents?  That could be heat‐mapped‐ how
employment patterns are changing and how we might approach economic policies. Some of
that will be seen in trends report.  Can have a baseline to assess in next update.

Other	Suggestions	
 Subcommunity fact sheets are great.  Add to Central Boulder something about mining history.

Also add irrigation / agricultural history if there is room.

Agenda Item 2B     Page 25Packet Page 51



 It will surprise people that Boulder HS is not in Central Boulder according to the subcommunity 
boundary.  Reference it as being just across the line.    Add the Mapleton early childhood center 
to the list of schools.  

 Other suggestions:  Where do you put "1st city to tax self for open space" – 1967; Like the photo 
of the old Victorian court house. 

 Handouts are on the web.  On engagement  ‐ inspire boulder / inquire boulder / insight boulder 
are confusing terms.  

 Ricky Weiser ‐ attended practically every city and county meeting.  She always pointed to the 
Boulder Valley land use designation map as one of the most important implementation tools of 
the comp plan.  

Agenda Item 2B     Page 26Packet Page 52



CITY OF BOULDER 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 
MEETING DATE: August 6, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  CONCEPT PLAN REVIEW AND COMMENT:  Request for citizen, staff 
and City Council comment on a proposal for a mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) located 
at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119 (Diagonal Highway), that includes 295 market-rate 
multi-family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, associated community buildings and  
54,000 square feet of commercial office space (with options for partial retail and coffee).  
Reviewed under case no. LUR2015-00028. 

PRESENTER/S  
Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
David Driskell, Executive Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director of Community Planning & Sustainability 
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 

On May 7, 2015, Planning Board reviewed the Concept Plan for the subject site; the staff memo is 
provided as Exhibit A and the minutes from that hearing are provided as Exhibit B.  The key issues 
raised by the Planning Board were whether residential uses are consistent with the Boulder Valley 
Comprehensive Plan (BVCP), whether residential uses were an appropriate use for the site and 
whether the city should consider purchasing the site for open space purposes. 

On June 2, 2015 City Council voted to call-up the Concept Plan for review and discussion.  In 
calling up the Concept Plan, council members indicated interest in considering Planning Board’s 
input on other types of land uses on the property and the potential for rezoning the property.  

Per Section 9-2-13, B.R.C. 1981, the purpose of the concept plan review step is to determine a 
general development plan for the site, including, without limitation, land uses, arrangement of uses, 
general circulation patterns and characteristics, methods of encouraging use of alternative 
transportation modes, areas of the site to be preserved from development, general architectural 
characteristics, any special height and view corridor limitations, environmental preservation and 
enhancement concepts, and other factors as needed to carry out the objectives of this title, adopted 
plans, and other city requirements. This step is intended to give the applicant an opportunity to 
solicit comments from the reviewing authority early in the development process as to whether the 
concept plan addresses the requirements of the city as set forth in its adopted ordinances, plans, and 
policies. Comments on a concept plan are not binding, but are meant to inform any subsequent site 
review application. 

Exhibits: 

Exhibit A: 
Exhibit B: 

Planning Board memo with Attachments 
Feb. 5, 2015 Planning Board Minutes 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  1Packet Page 53



I. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

Exhibit A - Planning Board memo with Attachments 
Exhi

C I T Y  O F  B O U L D E R 
PLANNING BOARD AGENDA ITEM 

MEETING DATE: May 7, 2015 

AGENDA TITLE:  CONCEPT PLAN & REVIEW - Proposed mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) 
located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119 (Diagonal Highway), that includes 295 market-rate multi-
family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, associated community buildings and 54,000 SF of 
commercial office space (with options for partial retail and coffee). Reviewed under case no. LUR2015-00028 
Applicant: Bill Holicky 
Property Owners:  

REQUESTING DEPARTMENT: 
Community Planning & Sustainability  
David Driskell, Executive Director  
Susan Richstone, Deputy Director  
Charles Ferro, Land Use Review Manager 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 

OBJECTIVE: 
1. Hear applicant and staff presentations
2. Hold public hearing
3. Planning Board discussion of Concept Plan. No action is required by Planning Board.

SUMMARY: CONCEPT PLAN & REVIEW - Proposed mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) 
located at McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119, that includes 295 market-rate multi-
family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, associated community buildings and 
54,000 SF of commercial office space (with options for partial retail and coffee). 
Reviewed under case no. LUR2015-00028 

Project Name: Alexan Flatirons 
Location: 3600 Highway 119, north of Independence Road at Highway 119 
Size of Tract: 20 acres 
Zoning:   Business Transition-1 (BT-1) 
Comprehensive Plan: Transitional Business 
Key Issues: Staff is recommending three key issues for discussion of the Concept Plan: 

 Consistency with the BVCP Land Use Designations;

 Predominate use on site of residential consistent with BVCP Policies;

 Concept Plan responsiveness to City “Edge and Entryway” Design Considerations

The vacant 20-acre property was annexed and zoned Transitional Business in 1981.  The previous review history 
for this property includes an issues identification review in 1995 and a non-binding concept plan review in 1998 
for an office and hotel development; a site review in 2000 for five office buildings that was withdrawn; and a 
Concept Plan review in 2006 for a mixed use development.  In addition, in 1998, the Open Space Board of 
Trustees was asked to consider purchase of the property given the context and surroundings with open space. 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  2Packet Page 54



 
 
 

II. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 
 

 
At that time the OSBT declined to purchase the property based on the very high market price as an annex and 
business-zoned property. Attachment A provides minutes from the two previous Planning Board Concept Plan 
review discussions.   In previous discussions, this site has been referred to as a “gateway” given the high 
visibiltiy of the site entering Boulder from the north on Highway 119.   
 

The proposed Concept Plan   consists of 295 market rate multi-family residential and 83 permanently affordable 
on-site senior attached units, along with two commercial buildings for office and retail totaling 54,000 square 
feet.  Community amenities proposed include landscaping and open space along with two swimming pools.  
The applicant noted that the development is organized around an internal greenway to provide connections into 
an existing trail network, opportunities for a variety of open space and to create a transition from the lower 
density scale of the north end of the site to the larger buildings of the south side. A reduced version of the 
Concept Plan is provided in Figure 1, and a link to the Concept Plan submittal is provided in Attachment A.  
Tables 1 and 2 provide a preliminary tally of the number of bedrooms proposed for each type of apartment 
building.  While the applicant has not identified specific demographics anticipated for the site, the number of 
bedrooms per building type can be summarized as follows: 
 
Market Rate: 295 Units Total 
2 Bedroom: 88 
1 Bedroom: 177 
Studio: 30 
 
Affordable Rate: 82 Units Total 
2 Bedroom: 19 
1 Bedroom: 63 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
Open Space 
 
 
 
 
 
 
256 Apartment Units 
 
 
 
 
 
83 P.A. Senior Housing Units 
 
 
 
Commercial/Office 
 
 

Figure 1:  Concept Plan 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  3Packet Page 55



 
 
 

 
  

 
 
 
 

2a: Senior Attached Residential Units Massing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2b: Market Rate Apartment Building Massing 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2c: Market Rate Apartment Buildings Massing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2d:  Office/Retail Massing 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2e: Office/Retail Massing 
 

Figures 2a thru 2e: Conceptual Massing Sketches:   

Agenda Item 2C     Page  4Packet Page 56



 
 
 

 

 

  

Table 1:   
Market Rate Apartment: Preliminary Bedroom Count per Building 

Table 2:   
Affordable Senior Residential Units: Preliminary Bedroom Count per Building 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  5Packet Page 57



 
 
 

 
 

  

(g) Guidelines for Review and Comment: The following guidelines will be used to guide the planning 
board's discussion regarding the site. It is anticipated that issues other than those listed in this section 
will be identified as part of the concept plan review and comment process. The Planning Board may 
consider the following guidelines when providing comments on a concept plan: 

(1)  Characteristics of the site and surrounding areas, including, without limitation, its location, 
surrounding neighborhoods, development and architecture, any known natural features of the site 
including, without limitation, mature trees, watercourses, hills, depressions, steep slopes and 
prominent views to and from the site; 

 
Existing Site.  As shown in the aerial of Figure 3 
and the street views of Figures 4a and 4b, the 
approximately 20 acre site is located on the 
northeast side of the main part of the city, in a 
prominent location and entryway from southbound 
Highway 119, the Diagonal Highway.  The site is 
flanked on both the east and west by the separated 
highway, as well as an access ramp on the north 
side of the site to the highway and Independence 
Road on the south side of the highway.  An elevated 
and bermed portion of 47th Street also flanks a 
portion of the western side of the site.  
 
The site is currently vacant with no previous site 
development except for previous oil drilling.  There’s 
a landmarked remnant oil well located on the 
northern portion of the site.  Historic information 
about the oil well is provided in the comment section 
under “Landmarks Preservation.”   
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  

III.  CONCEPT PLAN REVIEW AND COMMENT per Section 9-2-13 
 
 

Site 

Site looking toward south west 

Site  
Figure 3:   Site Location 
Figure 4a: View of Site from Hwy 119 
Figure 4b: View of Site from on-ramp 

portion of Hwy 119  
 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  6Packet Page 58



 
 
 

As shown in Figure 5, the topography of the site is 
essentially flat across the 20 acres. However, there is a 
low point on the northern end of the site, below the on-
ramp to the highway.  A topographic map is illustrated 
below with the direction of the slight slope on the site.  
 
Fourmile Canyon Creek is located at the northern most 
point of the site.  The northern triangular shaped portion 
of the site is entirely within the 100 year flood zone and 
a portion of the point includes high hazard flood zone 
along with “high functioning” wetland area.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

The site contains mostly “weedy” type plant species 
and there’s essentially no trees with the exception 
of the farthest point of the site on the north where 
mature trees such as willow and cottonwoods align 
the Fourmile Canyon Creek as shown in Figure 7.   
 
The site surroundings are varied and include rural 
agricultural land that historically has been an area of 
farming and cattle ranching. Cattle are still grazed on the property to the east.   
 
Hayden Lake to the southeast is a man-made reservoir which is owned by Boulder & Left Hand Ditch Company 
where water is stored and then released later in the season into Boulder & Left Hand Ditch.  A trailhead for the 
Cottonwood Trail east of Highway 119 is located on the north side of Hayden Lake. A recently approved Kum 
and Go Gas Station is located to the south as a redevelopment of the site to the south of Independence Road.   
 
To the west directly across 47th Street is the city owned Pleasant View Soccer Fields. Further west is the low 
and medium density residential developments of Northfield Village and the Four Mile Creek neighborhoods.   
There are photos of the surroundings in Figure 9 on page 7. 

Figure 5:  Topograhpic Map of the Site  
 

Figure 6:  Flood Mapping of the Site  
 

Figure 7:  Looking toward Fourmile Canyon Creek on North 
Portion of the Site 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  7Packet Page 59



 
 
 

Also located nearby is the Boulder Municipal Airport and the subject property is located within an Airport 

Influence Zone (AIZ) and would be required to comply with the Land Use Code section 9-3-10(e) that states, 

(1) Zone Four:(A) A person annexing to the city and thereafter constructing a new principal structure in the city shall be 

required to sign an avigation easement as a condition of obtaining a building permit, and the easement shall be recorded. 

An applicant for a development permit pursuant to chapter 9-2, "Review Processes," B.R.C. 1981, may be required to sign 

an avigation easement as a condition of obtaining a building permit, and the easement shall be recorded. (B) All new utility 

lines shall be placed underground. 

A map of the Airport Influence Zone in relation to the site is provided along with images of the surrounding 
context on the following page.   

Subject  

Property 

Figure 8:  Site in Context of Airport Influence Overly Zone Map 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  8Packet Page 60

http://www.colocode.com/boulder2/chapter9-2.htm


 
Figure 9:  Photos of Site Surroudings 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  9Packet Page 61



 

(2)  Community policy considerations including, without limitation, the review process and likely 
conformity of the proposed development with the Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan and 
other ordinances, goals, policies, and plans, including, without limitation, sub-community and 
sub-area plans; 

 
Shown in Figure 9, the site is designated as Transitional Business under the Comprehensive Plan defined as: 

 
“along certain major streets of the valley. These are areas usually zoned for less intensive business uses than in the General 
Business areas, and they often provide a transition to residential areas.” 
 

While the comprehensive plan land use designation indicates an intent for “less intensive business” the BT-1 
zoning on the site permits attached residential by-right, Figure 10 illustrates the zoning on the site.   Other policies 
are related to the need for housing and in particular permanently affordable housing, as is provided in the plan. 
Refer to criteria #8. 
 
Other comprehensive plan policies help to inform development on this site.  In particular, the site is considered 
a community edge and entryway and would need to be consistent with policy 2.05 as follows:  
 

2.05 Design of Community Edges and Entryways 
Well-defined edges and entryways for the city are important because they support an understanding and appreciation of the 
city’s image, emphasize and preserve its natural setting, and create a clear sense of arrival and departure. Natural feature are 
most effective as edges, but public open land, major roadways or heavy tree planting can also function as community edges. As 
new areas are developed, the definition of a community edge will be a design priority. Major entryways into the Boulder Valley 
will be identified, protected and enhanced. 

The applicant would need to provide greater information on how to establish a feature that would establish an 
“effective” edge as is recommended in the policy.  Today, just the roadway establishes the site as an edge.  In 
previous Concept Plan reviews recommendations were made to either establish iconic architecture on the site 
and/or tree plantings. Staff notes that the surface parking lots shown on the Concept Plan would not be 
acceptable as defining features within this city entryway. Refer to Key Issue 3 for additional discussion. 

 

(3)  Applicable criteria, review procedures, and submission requirements for a site review; 

 Site Review Criteria of the Land Use Code section 9-2-14(f), B.R.C. found here. 
 

 Boulder Valley Comprehensive Plan policies  
 

 Traffic Impact Study is required since the project’s trip generation is shown to exceed the residential 
threshold of 20 vehicles during the peak hour, as described in Section 2.02 of the City of Boulder Design 
and Construction Standards (DCS).   
 

 Transportation Demand Management (TDM) plan consistent with section 2.03(I) of the DCS and section 9-2-
14(h)(2)(D)(iv) and (v) of the Boulder Revised Code (BRC) which outlines strategies to mitigate traffic 
impacts created by the proposed development and implementable measures for promoting alternate modes 
of travel. 
 

 A CDOT Access Permit will be required for the proposed ¾ access from the Diagonal Highway.  The CDOT 
Access Permit must be applied for concurrently with Site Review submittal for preliminary CDOT approval 
and must have final approval prior to final engineering plan approval. 
 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  10Packet Page 62

https://www.municode.com/library/co/boulder/codes/municipal_code?nodeId=TIT9LAUSCO_CH2REPR_9-2-14SIRE


 
 
 

  

Figure 9: Comprehensive Plan Land Use Map 

 

Figure 10: Zoning Map 

 

Within the County: 
Open Space 

 

Within the County:  
Open Space 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  11Packet Page 63



 
 
 

(3)  Applicable criteria, review procedures, and submission requirements for a site review (continued); 

 Inclusionary Housing:  each new residential unit developed on the property is subject to 9-13 
B.R.C., 1981, “Inclusionary Housing.” The general Inclusionary Housing (IH) requirement is that all 
residential developments must dedicate 20 percent of the total dwelling units as permanently 
affordable housing.  For rental projects this requirement may be met through the provision of on-
site affordable rental units or comparable existing or newly built off-site permanently affordable 
rental units or through the dedication of land appropriate for affordable housing or by payment of a 
cash-in-lieu contribution. The proposed 387 units result in an inclusionary requirement of 77.4 
permanently affordable units. The applicant’s proposal to provide 83 permanently affordable senior 
units on-site would meet or exceed that requirement. 
 

 Inclusionary Housing:  Per 9-13 B.R.C., 1981, and associated regulations, permanently affordable 
dwelling units must be proportionate in type (such as detached, attached or stacked units) and 
number of bedrooms to the market rate units. Attached permanently affordable units must have an 
average floor area no less than 80 percent of the market-rate units, however this is a minimum and 
larger units are encouraged.  Permanently affordable dwelling units must meet the “Livability 
Standards for Permanently Affordable Housing.” No unit shall be considered a permanently 
affordable unit until the location, construction methods, floor plan, fixtures, finish and the cabinetry 
of the dwelling unit have been approved by the city manager. 
 

 Inclusionary Housing: Any required documents including the Determination of Inclusionary Housing 
Compliance form, Covenants to secure the permanent affordability of the units, and an Agreement 
must be signed and if necessary recorded prior to application for any residential building permit. On 
or off-site permanently affordable units must be marketed and constructed concurrently with the 
market-rate units.   

 

 Inclusionary Housing: Rental developments that meet the requirement with a cash contribution are 
required to acknowledge and agree to comply with that portion of the IH Ordinance which requires 
that if an owner chooses to convert the rental units to for-sale units within five years they will be 
required to pay the difference between the rental and for-sale CIL amount that was due when the 
building permit was issued. 

 

 Inclusionary Housing: Any applicable cash-in-lieu contribution must be made prior to receipt of a 
residential building permit.  The cash-in-lieu due is based on the amounts in place when paid.  
 

(4)  Permits that may need to be obtained and processes that may need to be completed prior to, 
concurrent with, or subsequent to site review approval;  

Assuming the applicant pursues a Site Review application after Concept Plan, other types of permits may be 
necessary as the project plans progress:  

 Technical Document for final plans (i.e. landscape, irrigation, architecture, lighting, engineering) 

 A CDOT access permit must be reviewed and approved through a separate Technical 
Document Review process.   

 A Special Use Permit will be required for the public improvements to be constructed within the 
CDOT right-of-way.  The CDOT Special Use Permit must be applied for concurrently with Site 
Review submittal for preliminary CDOT approval and must have final approval prior to final 
engineering plan approval.  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  12Packet Page 64



 
 
 

 
(5)  Opportunities and constraints in relation to the transportation system, including, without 

limitation, access, linkage, signalization, signage, and circulation, existing transportation 
system capacity problems serving the requirements 
of the transportation master plan, possible trail 
links, and the possible need for a traffic or 
transportation study; 

   
The site is situated with Highway 119, 47th Street and 
Independence Road along with highway access lanes 
surrounding property.  Opportunities exist to connect the project 
to the Fourmile multi-use path network that extends east to the 
Cottonwood Trail shown to the right. The site is challenged by 
the lack of close proximity to transit stops. As shown below, 
there are existing bus routes along the Diagonal Highway 
including the BOLT and the “J.”  However, as indicated on the 
map, there is one bus stop located within one-quarter mile of the 
site for north bound BOLT route only.   
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
  

Figure 11: 
Fourmile Multi-Use Path 

 

Figure 12: Walking Distances from Site to Bus Stope 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  13Packet Page 65



 
 
 

In addition, given that the applicant is proposing a parking reduction, the challenge will be the preparation of a 
Transportation Demand Management plan without the benefit of transit on the site.    
 
 (6)  Environmental opportunities and constraints including, without limitation, the identification of 

wetlands, important view corridors, floodplains and other natural hazards, wildlife corridors, 
endangered and protected species and habitats, the need for further biological inventories of 
the site and at what point in the process the information will be necessary; 

     
Portions of the site are located in the Four Mile Creek floodplain. The northernmost “triangular area” north of the 
off-ramp is primarily located in the conveyance and high hazard flood zones and development in these areas 
will be restricted in accordance with city floodplain regulations.  The applicant will be required to dedicate a 
public flood control easement for the conveyance zone. A small area of the site south of the highway off ramp is 
also in the 100-year floodplain, and partially located in the high hazard and conveyance zones. Refer to the 
graphic on page 10. 
 
There are no known special status species on the property.  There are a number of large, mature trees on the 
northern most point of the site where the point of the site interfaces with the Fourmile Canyon Creek.  That 
portion of the site doesn’t appear to have any plans for redevelopment.  However, at the time of Site Review an 
existing Tree Inventory will be warranted.  
 
The property contains the individually landmarked #1-21 McKenzie Oil Well. Dating from 1901-1902, the 
Boulder Oil Field’s McKenzie Well was designated a Landmark by Boulder City Council in November of 2002 
and listed in the National Register of Historic Places in 2004. The well has significance not only for its 
association with the Boulder Oil Field, but the impact that the discovery of crude had on the growth and 
development of the city during the first decade of the twentieth century. These events have been recognized as 
making a significant contribution to the broad patterns of Boulder history. 
 
Any physical change to the pump jack or well itself, including relocation, would require review by the Landmarks 
Board. Relocation of the pump jack would disassociate that element of the landmark from the well itself and 
would likely be found to be inconsistent with the historic preservation ordinance and the General Design 
Guidelines.  Shown below is the original oil derrick from 1902, and as the pump appears today. 

 
 
 
  

Figure 13: Images of the McKenzie Oil Well (from 1902 on the left and today on the right) 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  14Packet Page 66



 
 
 

(7)  Appropriate ranges of land uses;  
 
The existing Transitional Business zoning supports a mix of uses as the intent in the zoning is to provide a 
transition between business and residential uses.  This site is unique and differs from most sites in the 
Transitional Business zone in that there’s little in the way of a built context surrounding the site with the 
exception of the highway. Typically, transitional business exists where there is a change in zoning from 
commercial or business uses and residential.  The intent is to buffer the residential.  The closest residential to 
this site, is ¼ to ½ mile away, as is the nearest business or office buildings.  Therefore, while the existing 
zoning is intended to create a transition, there’s little in the way of land use to transition to or from.   
 
The appropriateness of the site for residential uses was a key issue raised during previous Concept Plan review 
discussions.  Concerns about the lack of bicycle and pedestrian connections, safety and noise impacts from the 
nearby airport, traffic noise from the surrounding highway and lack of nearby services were discussed as 
reasons why this site may not be very livable.  This is particularly true for the proposed senior housing on the 
site.  Therefore, the question of residential on the site is less an issue of compatibility or appropriateness of 
land uses, but rather one of addressing the challenges of the site’s location to create a desirable neighborhood. 
 
Shown to the right are the ¼ to ½ mile distances surrounding the center of the site. As is noted, there’s little in 
the way of walkable proximity to services or employment.   
 

  

½  
mile 

¼ 
mile 

¼ 
mile 

½  
mile 

Figure 14: Walkable proximity to services or employment  

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  15Packet Page 67



 
 
 

 
8)  The appropriateness of or necessity for housing  
 
The proposed project’s provision of housing, particularly affordable senior housing on site, along with a 
diversity of housing would help to meet several BVCP policies that address the need for housing.  The 
challenge for this particular site, while meeting many of the policies for housing, is that the location doesn’t 
meet the intent for mixed use and multi-family development proximate to transit, employment or services.  
The need for transit facilities in this location along with other services beyond the small retail and/or coffee 
shop proposed on site makes the site less appealing for residential and senior residential than other locations 
within the city.  The following are the BVCP policies regarding the need for and provision of housing: 
 
7.01 Local Solutions to Affordable Housing 
The city and county will employ local regulations, policies, and programs to meet the housing needs of their low and moderate income 
households and workforce. Appropriate federal, state and local programs and resources will be use locally and in collaboration with 
other jurisdictions. The city recognizes that affordable housing provides a significant community benefit and will continually monitor 
and evaluate its policies, programs and regulations to further the city’s affordable housing goals.  
 
7.02 Permanently Affordable Housing 
The city will increase the proportion of permanently affordable housing units to an overall goal of at least ten percent of the total 
existing housing stock through regulations, financial subsidies and other means. City resources will also be directed toward 
maintaining existing permanently affordable housing units and securing replacements for lost low and very low income units. 
 
7.03 Populations with Special Needs 
The city and county will encourage development of housing for populations with special needs including residences for people with 
disabilities, populations requiring group homes or other specialized facilities, and other vulnerable populations where appropriate. The 
location of such housing should be in proximity to shopping, medical services, schools entertainment and public transportation. Every 
effort will be made to avoid concentration of these homes in one area. 
 
7.06 Mixture of Housing Types 
The city and county, through their land use regulations and housing policies will encourage the private sector to provide and maintain 
a mixture of housing types with varied prices, sizes and densities, to meet the housing needs of the full range of the Boulder Valley 
population. 
 
7.09 Housing for a Full Range of Households 
The city and county will encourage preservation and development of housing attractive to current and future households, persons at 
all stages of life and to a variety of household configurations. This includes singles, couples, families with children and other 
dependents, extended families, non-traditional households and seniors. 
 
7.10 Balancing Housing Supply with Employment Base 
Expansion of the Boulder Valley housing supply should reflect to the extent possible current employer locations, projected 
industrial/commercial development sites, variety of salary ranges, and the demand such developments bring for housing employees. 
Key considerations include housing type, mix, and affordability. The city will explore policies and programs to increase housing for 
Boulder workers by fostering mixed-use and multi-family development proximate to transit, employment or services and by 
considering the conversion of commercial and industrial zoned or designated land to residential use. 
 
7.13 Integration of Permanently Affordable Housing 
Permanently affordable housing, whether publicly, privately or jointly financed will be designed as to be compatible, dispersed, and 
integrated with housing throughout the community. 
 

  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  16Packet Page 68



 
 
 

 
 
 
The intent of Transitional Business is to provide less intensive business uses than General Business and 
provide a transition to residential areas.  The BVCP land uses for the entire city are illustrated with the 
Transitional Business land use areas circled in Figure 15a below. As can be noted, the majority of these areas 
do serve as a transition from higher intensity business or industrial land use to residential.  The exception is the 
subject site given that it is straddled on both the east and west sides with open space, as shown in Figure 15b. 
Because of this distinction, there are few precedents to compare to the site.   

 

 
 
  
 
 

 
  

KEY ISSUE 1:  Is the proposed project consistent with the BVCP Transitional Business Land Use 
 
 

Figure 15a: Transitional Business Areas throughout the City (above);  15b: Land Use Context of Site (below) 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  17Packet Page 69



 
 
 

The closest land use precedent in the city 
that is a “transitional business” area 
surrounded by open space and major 
roadways is another “entryway” site located 
at the southeast end of the city at the apex 
of Highway 36/Foothills Expressway and 
South Boulder Road as shown in Figure 16.  
In that case, office buildings were 
constructed and are considered consistent 
with the intent of the Transitional Business 
Land Use.    
 
Given the more intensive highway context 
of the subject site and the predominant use 
of the site for residential, rather than office, 
the Concept Plan is arguably contrary to the intent of the BVCP Transitional Business Land Use.  However, it is 
important to note, that while the BVCP Transitional Business Land Use is intended to provide for “less intensive 
business uses” the Business Transition – 1 (BT-1) zoning does permit attached residential as a by-right use.  
Because the development on the site would require Site Review, analysis of the consistency of a site with the 
vision of the BVCP land use and policies is important to consider appropriateness of a use for the context.   
 
 
 
 
While the Concept Plan does illustrate a mix of uses, the predominant use on the site is residential, with 295 
attached residential units along with 83 permanently affordable senior units shown to occupy approximately 
three quarters of the development area. The question of appropriateness of the site for residential was 
discussed in previous Concept Plan reviews where residential was also the main use proposed on the site. At 
that time, the board acknowledged the need for residential in the city but questioned the site as a livable place 
for residential and comments noted that the site “in the middle of a cloverleaf” and that, “people would be living 
in a sea of traffic.”  Another comment noted that there would be a need to, “demonstrate that the site is livable.”   
These issues remain with this Concept Plan.   
 
Staff notes that with the surrounding highway traffic, noise and air quality would be among the impacts to any 
future residential.  Accessibility for residents, particularly seniors, from this site to other services and transit 
outside of this site would be challenging as well.  In previous reviews, there was a suggestion that an 
underpass for pedestrian connections would be important. While in the previous review, one board member 
suggested that perhaps the site would be more appropriate for seniors because of “fewer auto trips” and the 
ability for development to be “inward focused” as well as “residents may not be as affected by noise.”  Staff 
notes that there are BVCP policies that apply universally to residential development.   
 
For example, BVCP policy 2.14 “Mix of Complementary Land Uses” states, 

“The city and county will strongly encourage, consistent with other land use policies, a variety of land 
uses in new developments… Wherever land uses are mixed, careful design will be required to ensure 
compatibility, accessibility and appropriate transitions between land uses that vary in intensity and 
scale.” 

The adjacent Highway 119 has a significant intensity creating impacts.  Given that there is little ability to 
mitigate these impacts on the site through an “appropriate transition” staff finds that this policy would not be met 
by the Concept Plan. 

KEY ISSUE 2:  Is the predominant use of the site for residential consistent with relevant BVCP Policies? 
 
 

Figure 16:  Comparable “Entryway ”Transitional Business Site 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  18Packet Page 70



 
 
 

Similarly, BVCP policy 2.21, “Commitment to a Walkable and Accessible City”  states, 
  
“The city and county will promote the development of a walkable and accessible city by designing 
neighborhoods and business areas to provide easy and save access by foot to places such as 
neighborhood centers, community facilities, transit stops or centers, and shared public spaces and 
amenities.  The city will consider additional neighborhood-serving commercial areas where appropriate 
and supported by the neighbors they would serve.” 

 
While the applicant is illustrating 53,000 square feet of retail office, there is little in the way of neighborhood 
serving commercial.  There is also little opportunity to provide easy and safe access given the surrounding 
highway on the majority of the site.  In addition, the site would need to create a sense of a neighborhood for 
residents that mitigates external impacts and provides for daily on-site services, something difficult to achieve in 
the highway context.   
 
 
 
 
In past Concept Plan and Site Reviews for the site, reference has been made to the site being a ‘”gateway” or 
at an “entryway” to the city as defined in BVCP Policy 2.05.  This is evident in Figure 17, aerial photo;  
Figures 18 & 19, street views, the site is not only an “edge” or “entryway” into the main part of the city, but also 
is in the foreground of significant views from Highway 119 of the Flatirons.  
 

2.05 Design of Community Edges and Entryways 
Well-defined edges and entryways for the city are important because they support an understanding and appreciation of the 
city’s image, emphasize and preserve its natural setting, and create a clear sense of arrival and departure. Natural feature 
are most effective as edges, but public open land, major roadways or heavy tree planting can also function as community 
edges. As new areas are developed, the definition of a community edge will be a design priority. Major entryways into the 
Boulder Valley will be identified, protected and enhanced. 

KEY ISSUE 3:  Does the Concept Plan respond to the Design of the Community Edge and Entryway context? 
 
 

Figure 17:  Birds Eye Aerial Showing Entryway Context of Site and in Relation to Flatiron Views 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  19Packet Page 71



 
 
 

 

 
 
There are no images provided which depict the proposed massing on the site from this viewshed. However, 
because of the high visibility of this site from Highway 119, the development plans would need to make a strong 
statement for design excellence and simultaneously preserve the significant view corridor toward the Flatirons.  
Previous discussions about development on this the site have noted that this unique site context would warrant 
emphasis on iconic architecture yet in a style that would simultaneously be understated in relation to the views.  
 
As currently configured, there are parking areas that are shown to abut the highway. While typically such an 
approach could provide a buffer for the buildings for the living/working areas of the site from a highway, in this 
case, parking lots would not be an appropriate design response to the “entryway” context.  
 
CONCLUSION: 
The Concept Plan is challenged by questions of consistency with the BVCP Land Use designation of 
Transitional Business, by accessibility and compatibility of the site in relation to the surrounding highway as well 
as the responsibility of building upon a city entryway site.   
 
PUBLIC COMMENT AND PROCESS: 
Required public notice was given in the form of written notification mailed to all property owners within  
one-half mile of the subject site and a sign posted on the property for at least 10 days. It is important to note 
that while the Land Use Code standards for mailing are to property owners within 600 feet, given the 
surrounding open space to the site, staff determined that a radius of ½ mile would better serve the process by 
notifying the nearest neighbors.  Therefore, all notice requirements of section 9-4-3, B.R.C. 1981 have been 
met.  At the time of the memo preparation, eleven comment letters were received and are provided in  
Attachment B.   

Figure 18:  Distant view of the site when approaching from southbound Highway 119 

Figure 19:  Close in view of the site when approaching from southbound Highway 119 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  20Packet Page 72



 
 
 

  
 
 
STAFF FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATION: 
No action is required on behalf of the Planning Board. Public comment, staff, and Planning Board comments 
will be documented for the applicant’s use.  Concept Plan Review and comment is intended to give the 
applicant feedback on the proposed development plan and provide the applicant direction on submittal of the 
Site Review plans.   
 
Approved By:                                                  
 
 
________________________ 
David Driskell, Executive Director  
Community Planning & Sustainability 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
A:   Planning Board Minutes from previous Concept Plan review 2001 and 2006 
B: Community Comments 
C: Concept Plan Submittal 
 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  21Packet Page 73



 
 
 

 

Attachment A:1 
Planning Board Minutes: 

Concept Plan Review from 
2001 Proposal on Site 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  22Packet Page 74



 
 
 Agenda Item 2C     Page  23Packet Page 75



 
 
 Agenda Item 2C     Page  24Packet Page 76



 
 
 

  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  25Packet Page 77



 
 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 
August 3, 2006 
 
BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Elise Jones, Chair 
Simon Mole, Vice Chair 
John Spitzer 
Phil Shull 
Adrian Sopher 
Claire Levy 
Richard Sosa 
 
STAFF PRESENT: 
Robert O. Cole, Land Use Review Manager 
Ruth McHeyser, Acting Planning Director 
David Gehr, Assistant City Attorney 
Brent Bean, Senior Planner 
Steve Durian, Engineer 
Jody Jacobson, Communications 
Mary Wolff, MRW & Assoc. 
 
ACTION ITEMS 
A. Public hearing and consideration of Concept Plan LUR2006-00044, 
McKenzie Junction. Concept Plan proposal includes the development of 
up to 344 residential units and 35,000 square feet of non-residential use. 
 
Applicant: Scott McFadden, Trammell Crow Residential Development 
Owner: Birch Mountain Limited Liability Company 
 
Elise Jones: 
The site is a median, not good for residential. It is an entrance to the city though. What 
might go there - perhaps a church, one piece of incredible architecture or more soccer 
fields. Residential doesn’t work on the perimeter. Service Industrial might work on the 
south end where it’s less visible. Disagreed with Commissioner Spitzer that this site was 
appropriate for affordable housing because the site is so undesirable. Keep the 
connection to the bike path on 4-mile creek. Not adverse to some residential but it needs 
to address noise, open space, and have a lower density and a different configuration. The 
notion that it’s a glorified highway median is what the developer has to overcome. 
 
Simon Mole: 
Is the proposal compliant with the park service area requirements? Concerned about the 
access; ingress and egress. Perhaps we can transfer Service Industrial zoning from 
somewhere else in the city. This site is just about uninhabitable due to noise etc. but 
some kind of building would be acceptable here. I do not believe you can get a 
neighborhood or community here. This is a place that is auto-oriented, maybe service 
industrial with some live-work. Height is not an issue at this location. If the developer 
can answer the question of who and how people will live residential may be supportable. 
Noise is a problem overall, building techniques can mitigate the indoor impacts but it’s a 
problem for outdoor living. 
 

Attachment A:2 
Planning Board Review of 

Concept Plan from 
2006 Proposal on Site 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  26Packet Page 78



 
 
 

John Spitzer: 
Development that results in a fortress will create a sound wall, but as a gateway site is a 
wall of buildings appropriate. Site needs less density and more of a whimsical flavor. 
Affordable housing, this site has potential because it is so undesirable that the developer 
might be able to meet an affordable price point. Perhaps a live/work, service industrial 
environment. 
 
Phil Shull: 
I don’t think the site will ever work as a gateway. There’s no distinguishing 
characteristics to celebrate. It is an abrasive even hostile site for residential. The 
commercial tenants would also struggle, the location is wrong, and the site is too small. 
The Site has a limited chance of surviving as a mixed-use site. Some built form won’t 
damage the view-shed irreparably. Biggest issue is the noise buffering, how to mitigate. 
Service industrial could be a viable use for this site. I do think limited residential could 
C:\Documents and Settings\HabeH1\Local Settings\Temp\8.3.06 min.doc 3 
work on the interior, with a campus feel. View impacts are not an issue at this location. 
The site is auto oriented but doesn’t need all the streets proposed. Density does not work 
here – half what is proposed. There would be a high turnover of rentability, no one 
would want to live here for any length of time. 
 
Adrian Sopher: 
The site is not a gate way, it projects out and is disconnected from the rest of the 
community. The site is designated Area I on the BVCP. Only at the center of the site is 
the sound reduced to a point where housing might work. I can see small scale estate 
residential buffered by trees in the center, if you wanted to do res. here. High density 
residential is not appropriate for this site. As a gateway, no building on the site will block 
the views of the mountains, this is not a concern. Do not put residential on the perimeter, 
office or service commercial would work to protect the interior for possible residential. 
The central area should have a fair amount of green/park space. Not sure the egress on 
the East works because of acceleration distances. The balance of uses is not supportable 
to make this a viable community. The noise issue must address. The site is not a 
comfortable place for residential with traffic on all sides at all times. 
 
Claire Levy: 
This really is a median. I can’t see putting a community of people here. Though we need 
affordable housing, this location is disconnected and has access issues. This is a place for 
service industrial. The site is not appropriate for retail due to access and location. Three 
story structures would be acceptable at this location. But could work for small services 
and to get things fixed. I don’t think development will mar the view to the flatirons. I 
wouldn’t object to something messy on the site, we need places for messy things to 
happen in the community. Housing on this site would be a real challenge due mainly to 
the noise. Access is also a challenge, what’s proposed is circuitous. Residential density 
will need to be lower. The site is an island, hemmed in with no connectivity, nowhere to 
walk. 
 
Richard Sosa: 
Site should be Open Space, because it has noise issues that probably can’t be resolved. 
Health and safety for residents is difficult given that the site is surrounded by highways. 
The corridor is an important view-shed as an entryway. The proposal does not have 
discernible entryways. The noise issue will be difficult to overcome. Walls are not a 
good idea as a planning feature. The proposed site plan has cluttered roads and too many. 
I want to see more usable, functional green space/park area. 
 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  27Packet Page 79



 
 
 

From: Sharon Penny [mailto:penny.sharon@gmail.com]  
Sent: Monday, April 20, 2015 4:51 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Alexan Flatirons project 

 
 
I would like to make known my objection to the Alexan Flatirons project at 3600 SH 119, review #LUR2015-00028.   
 
1.  Traffic issues:  The area is basically the median of the diagonal highway, and the intersection of many roads.  Traffic 
congestion is already bad there, and adding this project would seriously impact people's ability to get to and from work in a 
timely fashion, as well as increase the number of accidents. 

2.  Size:  The project is way too ambitious for the size of the property. 

3.  Lack of parking:  The notification letter did not specify whether any parking would be provided.  But I would point out 
that the soccer fields right across the street already have issues with inadequate parking, causing illegal parking in the 
adjoining neighborhoods.  This problem would only exacerbate the problem. 

4.  No public transportation:  To my knowledge there is no public transportation to the area, so all access would be by 
private vehicle. 

5.  Comment:  If this project were suggested for the area north of BT-1, it might be a feasible use of the space, but the BT-1 
area in question would serve the city better as a small green area or park to greet visitors coming into to town from the NE. 

Thank you for your consideration of my input. 

Sharon Penny 
4894 Hopkins Pl. 
Boulder 
 
 
-----Original Message----- 
From: K.C. Gordon [mailto:kc9989@comcast.net]  
Sent: Tuesday, April 14, 2015 7:18 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Concept plan comment 
 
Elaine, 
 
I'm commenting on the concept plan LUR2015-00028. 
 
After receiving in the mail from the City of Boulder Planning and Development Services a 
notice on this plan I have only one comment for consideration. I think you will need a 
traffic signal at the intersection of RH-4, Diagonal Hy and Independence Rd. It almost 
needs one now as the traffic entering that intersection from the east on Independence Rd. 
has been increasing. Travelers usually want to go into Boulder, south on RH-4, Diagonal Hy 
from Independence Rd., and with the speed of cross traffic, it can be a tricky maneuver. 
Adding this density to this area will certainly require some safety improvement, like a 
traffic signal. Speed limits in RH-4, Diagonal Hy are 55mph north and 45mph south. 
 
Thank you, 
 
Kenneth Gordon 
3265 34th Street Apt.53 
Boulder, CO 80301-1964 
tel-303-444-6689 
kc9989@comcast.net  

Attachment B:  Community Comments 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  28Packet Page 80

mailto:kc9989@comcast.net


 
 
 

 

  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  29Packet Page 81



 
 
 

 
 
From: Josh Kahn [mailto:boulderkahn@gmail.com]  

Sent: Thursday, April 16, 2015 5:45 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: LUR2015-00028 

 
All those family units and surrounded by major roads. Is there any retail nearby that will not keep 
everyone out of their cars? I cannot see how this development makes any sense? Maybe retail but a 
neighborhood surrounded by the highway and other roads with no other infrastructure nearby? 
 
Josh Kahn 
3990 Montclair Lane 
Boulder, CO 80301 
 

 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  30Packet Page 82



 
 
 

 

From: suzywolf@gmail.com [mailto:suzywolf@gmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 11:17 AM 

To: Dean E. Wolf 

Cc: McLaughlin, Elaine; dean wolf 
Subject: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 
Dear Elaine, 
I would like to submit the following comments/concerns to be placed in the Staff memorandum to the 
Planning Board. 
 
I agree with my husband, Dean Wolf's, comments (below) and would like to add a concern for the 
prairie dogs who currently reside in that field. Is it possible to relocate them and then dig a barrier so 
that they do not come back? What is the plan to avoid killing them while building any development on 
this property. Our nine year old daughter is very worried about them and we wanted that to be on the 
record.  
 
Thank you! 
 
~Suzy Wolf  
4 Mile Creek Resident 
 

From: Dean E. Wolf [mailto:law@ipmls.com]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 2:01 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Cc: law@ipmls.com 
Subject: RE: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 

1. The developer is seeking approval to build 368 high density multi-family units on the property.  
That number seems very high (and greedy).  The families would be packed in like sardines with so 
many units.  I'm curious to know how many persons total would inhabit this development.  If one 
assumes 3 persons per unit, then we're talking 1,104 additional persons.  
 
2. The proposed development would essentially be an isolated island of 368  high density multi-family 
units surrounded by freeways (Hwy 157), high-speed roadways, and train tracks.  The noise and 
pollution factors alone would seem to make this development prohibitive of such a large residential 
development.  The location of this development seems much more suited for low density residential 
with a larger proportion of the property allocated for business/commercial use. 
 
3. Noise of Train - I am a resident of 4 mile Creek Development, and live near 47th street.  Trains 
running on the train tracks near the proposed development site frequently blow their horns multiple 
times between 12am and 4am. From my house, the noise of these train horns sounds very loud, even 
with the windows of our home closed. these train horns would most definitely be very disruptive to the 
residence of the proposed development. 
 
4. No sidewalks/pedestrian access.  As far as I can tell, the proposed development plan does not 
include any plans for building sidewalks around the entire development.  this presents a major safety 
issue, as it is very likely that the residents of the development will wish take the shortest path (e.g., via 
jaywalking across diagonal highway and other nearby streets) to access (via foot) the Pleasant View 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  31Packet Page 83



 
 
 

Soccer fields and open space areas (e.g. cottonwood trail) 
 
5. Possible toxic environmental/soil contamination due to presence of existing oil well on property.  
Has any study been conducted to determine the extent to which the soil and groundwater on the 
property has been contaminated by the oil well?  If such contamination exists, it could be very harmful 
for children living in the development, as well as adults. 
 
6. Increased probability of pedestrians attempting to illegally cross over the train tracks to access open 
space areas (e.g., cottonwood trail).  There is already an issue with users of the multi-use path (on the 
north side of train tracks) illegally crossing over the train tracks to access open space areas (e.g., 
cottonwood trail). The addition of 1000 additional nearby residents would greatly exacerbate this 
problem. 
 
7.  Insufficient allocation of outdoor recreational space in development plan.  where would the 
children of the development play outside? In the development's concrete parking lots?  For the 
development of this size, one would expect that adequate outdoor recreation space be allocated for the 
recreation of the residents of the development, including, for example, a large grass field (for sports 
such as soccer, baseball, football), a playground area and play structure for younger children, picnic 
tables, shade structures, etc.  
 
8. Wetlands issue. There currently exists a wetlands on the property.  Has the developer conducted an 
adequate environmental impact report (EIR) to determine how the development might affect the 
wetlands and native species which inhabit the wetlands? 
 
9. Traffic congestion issue.in addition to the obvious traffic congestion issues relating to 400-800 
vehicles attempting to enter/exit the development property, there is also the issue of southbound on 
ramp to the Diagonal Highway at 47th St., which, currently, is accessible only via a left turn lane that 
can accommodate at most 20 vehicles before the line backs up into the intersection of Diagonal 
Highway/47th 
 
10. School Over Enrollment Issues.  Where would the children from this development attend school?  
Has the developer addressed this issue at all? Which elementary school would be the "local" school? 
Which middle school?  The closest public elementary school Crest View Elementary, which is already 
over capacity (with over 600 students).  I am a member (and former chairperson) of the Crest View 
Elementary School Accountability Committee (SAC), and I know that Crest View Elementary is 
already struggling with significant issues relating over enrollment of students at that school.  There is 
ongoing concern that these over enrollment issues will further be exacerbated by the enrollment of 
additional new students from the new development communities just west of Pleasant View Fields.  
Similar over enrollment issues also currently exist at Centennial Middle School.  it is not feasible or 
practical to assume that there is adequate space at either Crest View elementary or Centennial middle 
school to accommodate the children of the proposed Alexan flatirons development. 
 
____________________ 
Dean E. Wolf 
Intellectual Property Attorney 
Corporate Counsel 
Tel:  510.655.9111 
Fax: 510.868.2711  
Telecon: 712-832-8310 x 3887328 
http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  32Packet Page 84

http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf


 
 
 

 
 

 
From: McLaughlin, Elaine  

Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 1:56 PM 
To: 'Dean E. Wolf' 

Cc: 'dean wolf' 
Subject: RE: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 

Hi Dean- 
 
We appreciate your thoughtful concerns. Could you please authorize attachment of these comments 
into the staff memo that goes to the Planning Board?  Your email has a disclaimer statement that 
requires authorization.  Then, per your request, I’ve provided some preliminary responses to your 
questions in bold italic below.  Some of the points you bring up were similarly identified by staff in 
comments to the applicant and in the draft memo to Planning Board. Additional or expanded 
information will come from other disciplines (such as transportation or engineering) prior to Planning 
Board, but I did want to respond to your request to address the comments.   
All the best- 
Elaine 
 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
Department of Community Planning + Sustainability 
City of Boulder 
1739 Broadway, 3rd Floor 
Boulder, CO  80306-0791 
 
303-441-4130 (phone) 
303-441-3241 (fax) 
 
http://www.boulderplandevelop.net 
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

 

  

 
From: Dean Wolf (iPhone) [mailto:law@ipmls.com]  

Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 11:13 AM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 

 

Thanks for confirming, Elaine. Unfortunately, I will be out of town on May 7, and will not be able to 
personally attend the planning board meeting.  
Just curious… Are you able to address any of my comments/concerns with me either by phone or 
email? 
 
------------------ 
Dean E. Wolf 
Intellectual Property Attorney 
law@ipmls.com • 510.290.8866 
www.provisionalpatentlawyer.com 
 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  33Packet Page 85

http://www.boulderplandevelop.net/
http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/
mailto:law@ipmls.com
mailto:law@ipmls.com
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/1jWVIq4x0SyMCqenHCzB5NwTsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIe6zBYsMOOrlIvHp4Cva7wExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCO5TAPhOO-_R-poKNtVzHTbFFTjUsyMCYyDORQr8EGTujVkffGhBrwqrhdETdTVcsCej79zANNKVI04J6FCl9lxFWSP-4PZc5LzOVI_j0aAIGvjBPrdNMVUS2_id40c-h4CgH4Qg2lllvxeC2lom-ca6y2fAtyxa14Qg21_x-Md43F-PB6Ia6y13PfDRml-4-dzHCO6S_
https://www.facebook.com/bouldercolorado.gov
https://twitter.com/bouldercolorado
https://vimeo.com/channels/boulder8
http://www.youtube.com/bouldercoloradogov
http://www.flickr.com/photos/bouldercolorado/


 
 
 

 

 
 
From: Dean E. Wolf [mailto:law@ipmls.com]  

Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 2:48 AM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Cc: 'dean wolf'; law@ipmls.com 

Subject: Neighbor Comments/Concerns regarding Alexan flatirons development. 
Importance: High 

 

Dear Elaine: 
 
I am a resident of 4 Mile Creek Development, and wish to su  bmit the following comments/concerns 
to be placed in the Staff memorandum to the Planning Board regarding Alexan flatirons development. 
 
Kindly confirm receipt of this email communication. 
 
Thank you. 
 
Regards, 
--Dean Wolf 
Resident of 4 Mile Creek Development  
 
1. The developer is seeking approval to build 368 high density multi-family units on the property.  
That number seems very high (and greedy).  The families would be packed in like sardines with so 
many units.  I'm curious to know how many persons total would inhabit this development.  If one 
assumes 3 persons per unit, then we're talking 1,104 additional persons.  At this stage of the review 
process, Concept Plan, the applicant hasn’t prepared detailed plans illustrating the number of 
bedrooms so it’s difficult to be definitive at this early stage.  The plans include 83 senior residential 
units, so the number of residents per unit may be less than the three. Beyond that information, there 
is no definitive demographic data at this point. 
 
2. The proposed development would essentially be an isolated island of 368  high density multi-family 
units surrounded by freeways (Hwy 157), high-speed roadways, and train tracks.  The noise and 
pollution factors alone would seem to make this development prohibitive of such a large residential 
development.  The location of this development seems much more suited for low density residential 
with a larger proportion of the property allocated for business/commercial use. Staff has noted this in 
comments to the applicant as well as the draft staff memo.  The zoning on the site is Business 
Transition – BT-1 which is intended for lower intensity office/commercial, but for which attached 
residential is permitted by-right.  
 
3. Noise of Train - I am a resident of 4 mile Creek Development, and live near 47th street.  Trains 
running on the train tracks near the proposed development site frequently blow their horns multiple 
times between 12am and 4am. From my house, the noise of these train horns sounds very loud, even 
with the windows of our home closed. these train horns would most definitely be very disruptive to the 
residence of the proposed development.  The proximity of residential to trains are not currently 
regulated.  There are discussions about creating “quiet zones” in limited places in the city which 
require implementing infrastructure at crossings in coordination with the BSNF Railroad.   
 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  34Packet Page 86

mailto:law@ipmls.com
mailto:law@ipmls.com


 
 
 

4. No sidewalks/pedestrian access.  As far as I can tell, the proposed development plan does not 
include any plans for building sidewalks around the entire development.  this presents a major safety 
issue, as it is very likely that the residents of the development will wish take the shortest path (e.g., via 
jaywalking across diagonal highway and other nearby streets) to access (via foot) the Pleasant View 
Soccer fields and open space areas (e.g. cottonwood trail) Staff recognizes this concern and has 
indicated this in comments to the applicant and the staff memo.  
 
5. Possible toxic environmental/soil contamination due to presence of existing oil well on property.  
Has any study been conducted to determine the extent to which the soil and groundwater on the 
property has been contaminated by the oil well?  If such contamination exists, it could be very harmful 
for children living in the development, as well as adults.  Drainage reports are required for 
development and if contamination is indicated it the report, regulation of any mitigation is through 
the State of Colorad . 
 
6. Increased probability of pedestrians attempting to illegally cross over the train tracks to access open 
space areas (e.g., cottonwood trail).  There is already an issue with users of the multi-use path (on the 
north side of train tracks) illegally crossing over the train tracks to access open space areas (e.g., 
cottonwood trail). The addition of 1000 additional nearby residents would greatly exacerbate this 
problem.  Independence Road on the south end of the site does connect to the trailhead for 
Cottonwood Trail east of Highway 119. The information about illegal crossings is helpful to 
understand however, and I will share this with our transportation engineers. 
 
7.  Insufficient allocation of 
outdoor recreational space in 
development plan.  where would 
the children of the development 
play outside? In the development's 
concrete parking lots?  For the 
development of this size, one 
would expect that adequate 
outdoor recreation space be 
allocated for the recreation of the 
residents of the development, 
including, for example, a large 
grass field (for sports such as 
soccer, baseball, football), a 
playground area and play structure 
for younger children, picnic tables, 
shade structures, etc.   This would 
need to be further studied as 
project plans progress as what 
they are illustrating today is very general.  Staff concurs that adequate open space would be 
important and the applicant will be required to meet and exceed city standards for open space for 
BT-1 zoning which requires 1,200 square feet of open space per dwelling unit that can be 
aggregated together. This is a good point particularly about the qualitative nature of opens space 
provided, particularly given the highway surroundings.  
 
8. Wetlands issue. There currently exists a wetlands on the property.  Has the developer conducted an 
adequate environmental impact report (EIR) to determine how the development might affect the 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  35Packet Page 87



 
 
 

wetlands and native species which inhabit the wetlands? The wetland appears to be confined to the 
area aligning Fourmile Canyon Creek (shown in green on the attached map). They are not showing 
any development near the creek or north of the round access ramp.   
 
9. Traffic congestion issue.in addition to the obvious traffic congestion issues relating to 400-800 
vehicles attempting to enter/exit the development property, there is also the issue of southbound on 
ramp to the Diagonal Highway at 47th St., which, currently, is accessible only via a left turn lane that 
can accommodate at most 20 vehicles before the line backs up into the intersection of Diagonal 
Highway/47th   At the time of Site Review, if the applicant chooses to proceed, a Traffic Impact 
Study will be required to be prepared.   
 
10. School Over Enrollment Issues.  Where would the children from this development attend school?  
Has the developer addressed this issue at all? Which elementary school would be the "local" school? 
Which middle school?  The closest public elementary school Crest View Elementary, which is already 
over capacity (with over 600 students).  I am a member (and former chairperson) of the Crest View 
Elementary School Accountability Committee (SAC), and I know that Crest View Elementary is 
already struggling with significant issues relating over enrollment of students at that school.  There is 
ongoing concern that these over enrollment issues will further be exacerbated by the enrollment of 
additional new students from the new development communities just west of Pleasant View Fields.  
Similar over enrollment issues also currently exist at Centennial Middle School.  it is not feasible or 
practical to assume that there is adequate space at either Crest View elementary or Centennial middle 
school to accommodate the children of the proposed Alexan flatirons development.  There is not an 
identified school for students at this point as there’s little information provided at this conceptual 
stage about the potential tenants. A portion of the development is intended for senior housing and 
that’s the only demographic that the applicant has defined at this stage.   If and when project plans 
progress, additional information would need to be provided about the number of bedrooms and the 
likely demographic that the units would be marketed to or if there’s any units planned that would be 
appealing to families with young children in this location.   
 
--Dean Wolf 
 
____________________ 
Dean E. Wolf 
Intellectual Property Attorney 
WolfIP Law Group | Gaming IP Specialists 
Tel:  510.655.9111 
Fax: 510.868.2711  
Telecon: 712-832-8310 x 3887328 
http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf 
http://gamingipattorney.com/ 

  
PLEASE CONSIDER OUR ENVIRONMENT BEFORE PRINTING THIS E-MAIL 
======================================================= 
This email message is for the sole use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain confidential and privileged 
information. Any unauthorized review, use, disclosure or distribution is prohibited. If you are not the intended 
recipient, please contact the sender by reply email and destroy all copies of the original message. 
 
 
 

 
 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  36Packet Page 88

http://www.linkedin.com/in/deanwolf
http://cp.mcafee.com/d/avndxMQ839J5xcQszxPPMVwTsSZtxNdxcSZtxNdZcSDtBxBwQsFEECQXIe6zBYsMOOrlIvHp4Cva7wExlIZ3USGvmeElUzkOr8lrfg-dGDRzG5u8RcCTy291VBZ_HY-MMUOeLRXBQSkT-hhhhuph7sJteOaqJPhONOEuvkzaT0QSyrhdTVeZXTLuZXCXCM0p7lpg8OmSsWNxVrBYdDWo1kBBjWsKrhd7bbbVI6v8yj8lyq81aGGLMDj1aIbv653h17OeNgB0yq810_M_o6y1Q_pOzm53h0xVDPWHa_2v6T73s_uhlgYwGPXh


 
 
 

 
 

From: Jean Aschenbrenner [mailto:jeanasch@hotmail.com]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 8:22 AM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Alexan Flatirons Concept Plan 

 
I am writing to present my objection to the Alexan Flatiron Plan. 
 
 I live at 4816 Baldwin Place,  east of 47th St., North of Kings Ridge. 
 I am currently retired but I spent 25 years working at IBM north of Boulder before that and have 
lived in this house for 26 years. 
 
The area proposed for development is not large so, given the number of multi-family units, it will be 
densely populated.  Traffic in and out of the development will be a major problem.  It appears it will 
need to exit onto 47th Street.   It will flow to the intersection of 47th St and the Diagonal where they 
join with Foothills Parkway.   This intersection area seems to be designed creatively to deal with 
complicated traffic merging.   Feeding lots more traffic into that intersection will cause major 
problems. 
 
Further, given that Boulder is growing, one could expect more traffic at the Foothills/Diagonal 
junction.   If the area is developed as proposed, it will preclude other necessary enlargements of the 
roads and intersections in the area. 
 
Note that there is a railway line also in this area which limits road expansion.   Already there are 
backups on 47th Street south of the Diagonal due to trains.   Supposedly Light Rail will be using those 
lines in the future.  The large amount of extra traffic will not be able to be supported. 
 
There are ball parks just west of the proposed development.   These are important for our youth  and 
should not be moved or diminished.  The large amount of extra traffic on 47th Street may require 
road widening and will also complicate access to the ball fields. 
 
I sincerely hope that this Concept Plan  is modified to become more reasonable. 
 
Jean Aschenbrenner 
303-786-9411 
jeanasch@Hotmail.com 
 
 
 
Sent from Windows Mail 
 
  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  37Packet Page 89

mailto:jeanasch@Hotmail.com


 
 
 

 
-----Original Message----- 
From: Sam Lloyd [mailto:samrlloyd@comcast.net]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 12:29 PM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Re: Alexan Flatirons Concept Plan 
 
Greetings Ms. McLaughlin. One of my neighbors forwarded the message about the Alexan 
Flatirons Concept Plan & Review and I would to provide some thoughts for 
consideration. 
 
The proposal would seem to be a high density apartment complex plus some commercial 
properties. The majority of the residents in our development (Four Mile Creek) use 
47th Street as one of our primary entrances and route into the city of Boulder and we 
have some concern about the increased volume of traffic that would result from this 
development. 
 
378 multi-family units sounds like a very large number of homes (houses, apartments, 
condominiums?) for that rather compact area of land!  
 
We also have a very high rate of usage of 47th Street by bicyclists. Even though 
there are bicycle lanes on that street the proposed development could create a more 
hazardous route for the bicycle riders! 
 
We appreciate your notification and information. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Sam Lloyd 
4012 Mustique Court 
Boulder, CO 80301 
samrlloyd@comcast.net 
303-998-0248  Work/Home/Cell 
 
 

 
From: Micki [mailto:1028micki@gmail.com]  

Sent: Friday, April 24, 2015 10:47 AM 
To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: Alexan Flatirons 

 
This is in response to the notification that the project known as Alexan Flatirons - 3600 SH 119. 
 
I am not in agreement that this is a good place to build the number of homes and businesses as 
presented in the letter sent out.  The land is far too small to handle the number of people that will be 
moving in there.  The congestion alone is reason enough to find another location - such as property to 
the north on the west side of the Diagonal Highway. 
 
The accessibility to the proposed homes is going to cause a huge increase of the use of 47th Street. 
This street was meant to be a frontage road and already experiences very high levels of traffic during 
rush hour times.  
 
I am an  affordable housing condominium owner in the NoBo Holiday Theater area.  I am happy to see 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  38Packet Page 90

mailto:samrlloyd@comcast.net


 
 
 

that Boulder is continuing to add affordable housing.  I have lived in Boulder for 40+ years now and 
have watched the housing developments cram as many homes as is possible into the properties 
purchased.  I am saddened to see numerous overcrowded neighborhoods with next to nothing yards for 
children to play in,, smaller streets that are very difficult to navigate particularly when it snows, lack 
of adequate parking, and a very high turnaround of homes up for sale as families begin to grow.   
 
The properties chosen for these developments are always in the least desirable parts of town so that a 
developer can buy at a the lowest possible price in  a city that everyone wants to live in.  I may be 
wrong but I don't see these kinds of neighborhoods developed anywhere west of Broadway.  I see 
nothing wrong with trying to get the most for your money but as the influx of families continues to rise 
at a very fast rate, I think the quality of our town's neighborhoods should be taken into consideration.  
Too many rats in the box causes havoc.   
 
Micki Sugar 
1735 Yaupon Avenue 
Boulder, CO 80304 
 
 
From: Susan Enfield [mailto:susan.enfield@yahoo.com]  
Sent: Thursday, April 23, 2015 9:43 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 

Subject: Alexan Flatirons proposed development 

 
 Hi Elaine, 
 
I am a neighbor of Dean Wolf & just read his letter & your replies. Although in general, I 
support higher density within Boulder to theoretically mitigate the number of people 
commuting to work here, I think Dean raises several good points.  
 
In particular, the Diagonal has had some terrible accidents on it, given that people drive at 
speeds of 55-70 mph (speeding on their commute), but people also turn on & off it from a 
dead stop, often without a stop light. I regularly use Independence Rd as a "shortcut" to get 
to 47th when stuck at the long red light at the Diagonal. That turn is very poorly marked, 
especially for night driving. At the same time as I am trying to turn west onto Independence, 
people often turn south onto the Diagonal from the eastern extension of Independence, 
crossing traffic and potentially causing collisions if they don't properly assess all the different 
vehicle directions & speeds. 
 
As a Crestview & Centennial parent, I can also attest to those schools becoming more over-
enrolled. In contrast to the abundance of elementary & middle schools in South Boulder, it 
seems that North Boulder needs another school or two, not just bigger schools! 
 
Thanks, 
Susan 
.......................................... 
Susan Enfield 
cell: 720-289-2301 
email: susan.enfield@yahoo.com 
  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  39Packet Page 91

mailto:susan.enfield@yahoo.com


 
 
 

 
From: david williard [mailto:williardwilliard@yahoo.com]  

Sent: Friday, April 24, 2015 2:22 PM 

To: McLaughlin, Elaine 
Subject: Alexan Flatirons Development 

 
Hi Elaine, 
 
Thanks for the opportunity to submit comments regarding the Alexan Flatirons development. 
 
I live on East Palo Park (which is within 1/3 of a mile of the new development) which has 
seen a huge rise in use over the last two years, for several reasons:  
1.) The city recently redeveloped the playground (it is beautiful) which attracts lots more kids 
to the park. 
2.) The city thus far has refused to enforce the leash law at the park, resulting in as many as 
15 dogs running around the park off-leash. There is a lot of barking, as you can probably 
imagine.   
3.) In addition to many people driving to the park so that their kids can use the playground, 
many people drive from other areas to the park to let their dogs run off leash. It is considered 
a dog park by many.  
4.) As Palo Park is one of the last affordable areas in Boulder, many families are moving to 
the area, resulting in a higher proportion of homeowners with young children. 
The result -- an extremely loud park that feels like a free-for-all and is incredibly crowded on 
the weekends. I now no longer enjoy going outside my home because of so many screaming 
kids at the playground. I hear them all day inside my home, too, especially on the weekends. 
I have tried to roll with this, but I ma frustrated with the city because developments are going 
in around us that include NO amenities for children.  
 
I have mentioned these issues to city officials in several city council meetings involving the 
planned affordable housing development on east Palo Parkway. What I see in developments 
like Northfield Commons, the development at Jay and 47th near us, and the upcoming 
affordable housing development is a lack of attention on spreading noise out and having 
consideration for people who live along East Palo Park who didn't realize 10 years ago that 
the city was going to overload the area with dense housing and not put in any additional 
playgrounds or parklands. Now the city is considering an additional 400 units in a really weird 
spot, and I am concerned that there are no plans to develop a park for these people. the 
ONLY park in the area is east palo park, and I assume it will be overrun even further if the 
development is allowed to proceed. If so, I fear that I will have to move because the park will 
be used all the time, and my wife and I will have no peace and quiet.  
 
Thanks for hearing me out.  
 
Regards, 
David Williard 
303-641-7761 
  
 
  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  40Packet Page 92



 
 
 

From: "Chuck Brock" <charles.a.brock@comcast.net> 
To: "boulderplanningboard" <boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov> 
Cc: "community-cycles-advocacy-committee@googlegroups.com" <community-cycles-advocacy-
committee@googlegroups.com> 
Subject: Comments on Alexan Flatirons from Community Cycles 

Dear Planning Board: 
 
The Advocacy Committee of Community Cycles would like to comment on the Concept Plan for the 
proposed Alexan Flatirons project. Our comments are focused on the transportation elements of the 
proposal. 
 
We share Staff’s concern that the proposed development is not effectively connected to the rest of the 
city. This multi-use, but primarily high-density residential, development is located in the middle of a 
triangle bounded by the Diagonal Highway (55 mph), the northbound onramp to this highway (45-55 
mph), and 47th Street (40 mph). There are poor options for biking or walking to other parts of the city. 
The only direct access by bike from this location would be along 47th St., which has a speed limit of 
40 mph and a 4-5 foot-wide unprotected bicycle lane. While experienced adult cyclists might take this 
route, it is extremely unlikely that children or less confident riders would take the option to bike from 
this location. The Fourmile Creek trail is a nice amenity, but does not connect directly to shopping, 
work, or entertainment destinations; using it would entail a significant detour. 
 
The developer suggests that this is a "transit rich" environment.  However, unlike Downtown and 
Boulder Junction, which are or will be served by a variety of different transit lines, as well as both on 
and off-street bike facilities, the only transit access to this site is the Bolt, which stops across the 
Diagonal onramp outbound from Boulder.  The Boulder-bound stop is on the other side of Foothills in 
the middle of an unfinished median triangle. To access this stop, riders would have to pass through the 
underpass of Diagonal and Foothills. Below is a Google Streetview photo of this location. There is no 
sidewalk along the underpass. The speed limit here is 45 mph, and this is a 7-lane state highway at this 
location. Traffic turns rapidly from the Diagonal to north- and south-bound 47th, aided by shallow 
turning angles and very wide curb radii. We think this would be a very challenging—even 
dangerous—environment for a potential transit commuter, and would not be accessible at all for 
children below the age of 16. 
 
In sum, this location is unfriendly to transportation by any mode other than motor vehicle. We expect 
that virtually everyone living in or accessing this location will use a car. It’s hard to imagine that 
development here would help meet Boulder’s climate and transportation goals as outlined, for 
example, in the TMP. 
 
Thank you for your service to our community. 
 
The Community Cycles Advocacy Committee 
 
 
 
Looking westbound from 47th and Diagonal. The Boulder-bound bus stop is on the other side of this 
underpass to the right. 
  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  41Packet Page 93

mailto:charles.a.brock@comcast.net
mailto:boulderplanningboard@bouldercolorado.gov
mailto:community-cycles-advocacy-committee@googlegroups.com
mailto:community-cycles-advocacy-committee@googlegroups.com
mailto:community-cycles-advocacy-committee@googlegroups.com


 
 
 

 
  

Agenda Item 2C     Page  42Packet Page 94



 
 
 

 

 
Link provided here.  
 

 
  

Attachment C:  Concept Plan Submittal 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  43Packet Page 95



CITY OF BOULDER 
PLANNING BOARD ACTION MINUTES 

May 7, 2015 
1777 Broadway, Council Chambers 

A permanent set of these minutes and a tape recording (maintained for a period of seven years) are 
retained in Central Records (telephone: 303-441-3043). Minutes and streaming audio are also 
available on the web at: http://www.bouldercolorado.gov/ 

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS PRESENT: 
Aaron Brockett, Chair 
Bryan Bowen 
Crystal Gray 
John Putnam 
John Gerstle 
Leonard May 
Liz Payton 

PLANNING BOARD MEMBERS ABSENT: 

STAFF PRESENT: 
Hella Pannewig, Assistant City Attorney 
Susan Meissner, Administrative Assistant III 
Charles Ferro, Development Review Manager for CP&S 
Elaine McLaughlin, Senior Planner 
David Thompson, Civil Engineer- Traffic 

1. CALL TO ORDER
Chair, A. Brockett, declared a quorum at 6:03 p.m. and the following business was conducted. 

2. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

On a motion by C. Gray and seconded by J. Putnam the Planning Board approved 7-0 the August 
28, 2014 minutes. 

3. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
1. Dean Dinair, 1507 Bluebell Avenue, thanked Sloane Walbert for explaining the Bluebell

project to him. He wanted to assure that the project is sensitive to the neighborhood character.
He also felt that the limits for subdivision should be limited.

4. DISCUSSION OF DISPOSITIONS, PLANNING BOARD CALL-UPS/CONTINUATIONS

A. Call Up Item: USE REVIEW to establish a 1,605 square foot restaurant, "Troovi Eatery & 
Juice Bar" in currently unoccupied retail space at Solana Apartments 3060 Pearl Parkway under 
case no. LUR2015-00025. Expires May 8, 2015. 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  44Packet Page 96

https://webmail.bouldercolorado.gov/owa/redir.aspx?C=I5NO4b26akWhgmZpN9k_L3ln-0EqYNAIb3BQVECXatq4pRtRPkpbxOOxLA_bEvetV-NSpTIFrBA.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.bouldercolorado.gov%2f


 
 
 

B. Call-Up Item: Minor subdivision review, case no. LUR2015-00008, for the creation of a second 
residential lot with frontage on 15th Street. Lot 1A to be 7,605 square feet and Lot 2A to be 
7,404 square feet. This approval is subject to potential call-up on or before May 11, 2015. 

C. Call-Up Item: NONCONFORMING USE REVIEW (LUR2015-00017): Request for an 
expansion to a nonconforming use to remodel the kitchen facilities at the Alpha Chi 
Omega house located at 1162 12th Street, including mechanical equipment and 
screening located on the building rooftop and associated ductwork within the rear yard 
setback. The project site is zoned Residential - High 5 (RH-5). The call-up period 
expires on May 15, 2015. 

 
Board Questions: 
C. Gray asked a question about item 4B. 
D. Thompson answered board questions. 
 
None of these items were called up. 
 
5. PUBLIC HEARING ITEMS 
A. CONCEPT PLAN & REVIEW - Proposed mixed-use development (Alexan Flatirons) located at 

McKenzie Junction, 3600 Highway 119 (Diagonal Highway), that includes 295 market-rate multi-
family units, 83 affordable-rate multi-family units, associated community buildings and 54,000 SF 
of commercial office space (with options for partial retail and coffee shop). Reviewed under case 
no. LUR2015-00028. 

 
Applicant: Bill Holicky  
Property Owner: Birch Mountain, LLC 

 
 
Staff Presentation: 
C. Ferro introduced the item. 
E. McLaughlin presented the item to the board. 
 
Board Questions: 
E. McLaughlin answered questions from the board. 
D. Thompson answered questions from the board. 
 
Applicant Presentation: 
Bill Holicky, the architect, presented the item to the board. 
 
Board Questions: 
Bill Holicky, the architect, answered questions from the board. 
 

1. Michael O’Keeffe, 4520 Nassan Place, asked for clarification and spoke in opposition to the 
project. He did not feel that the location was conducive to residential for health and 
transportation reasons. 

2. David Williard, 3975 Dehesa Court, expressed some concerns about this development. He 
supports affordable housing but noted that this is a loud area and is not a pleasant place to be. 
He did not think that people would use the proposed open space and would instead go to the 
park adjacent to his house. He thought it would put pressure on the existing community. He 
asked that the applicant put a playground into the complex in an area that would be utilized. 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  45Packet Page 97



 
 
 

3. Hunter Smith, 5105 Independence Rd, is a neighbor and felt that this development would 
impact the rural character of the properties to the north and east. He was concerned about the 
impacts on traffic and noted that the intersection at Independence is a dangerous intersection; 
he recommended slowing traffic or adding a traffic light. 

4. John Harneg, 3880 N. 57th Street, lives east of the development and expressed concerns 
regarding safety and traffic. The Intersection at Independence and the Diagonal is very 
dangerous. He thought the impact of the residential units and commercial space would be 
problematic. Traffic speeds are fast on Independence and 57th Street. The airport is close by 
and asked where this sits in relation to the flight path.  

5. Holly Hyatt Langdon, 3702 Star Lane, expressed concerns about the impact of the views of 
open space and surrounding areas. She did not think that the community would be conducive to 
bike and bus connections for seniors. She felt that it was in a median and would not be a nice 
place to live. 

6. Jean Aschenbrenner, 4816 Baldwin Place, noted that the train tracks will be loud for 
residents. She noted that the current traffic bottlenecks at that location and causes backups. She 
did not think that there would be sufficient space to expand the highway. Consider the cost of 
flood repairs to the open space area. 

7. Bob Murphy, 4075 N. 57th Street, expressed concerns about the air traffic over that 
development. Other neighbors in the area already do not like the air traffic. He had traffic 
concerns as well; there are already traffic jams and this would add pressure to that area. He 
noted that there are many runners, cyclists and horses that use Independence Road; he wanted 
to assure the safety of all users. 

 
 
Board Comments: 
Summary: 

 Board members did not find the proposed project to be entirely compliant with the BCVP.  
 

 Residential use is allowed per the zoning but many board members did not feel that it was an 
appropriate use. Though not currently allowed, the board thought business industrial or other 
light commercial uses could be more appropriate given traffic, noise, siting and accessibility 
concerns. 
 

 Some members recommended that Open Space consider purchasing the property or rezoning it 
during the BVCP update.  
 

 L. Payton suggested that the site be considered for satellite parking. Others did not feel that 
would be an appropriate use given the existing traffic congestion. Some members did feel that 
this could be a good site for a rest area with an interpretive educational center. 
 

 The edge conditions of the site are challenging. The board members felt that the proposed plan 
allowed for views of the Flatirons and liked that “soft” edge to the city. 
 

 Some members suggested that the historic well be moved out into the open space on the site. 
 
 
Detailed Comments: 
Consistency with the BVCP and Land Use 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  46Packet Page 98



 
 
 

J. Putnam was unsure about this project as it has many contradictory cross currents. Though the 
current vacant state seems to provide a good edge, it is private property and allowed to be developed. 
Unless the city changes its mind about acquiring this property, they must allow for it to be developed. 
Service industrial uses, especially with the Kum and Go adjacent to the property, could be an 
appropriate use.  
 
L. May did not think that the proposal was entirely consistent w the BVCP policies; it would be better 
suited as an infill project within the city. He agreed that service industrial uses might make better 
sense on the site. Given that it has a current land use designation, he didn’t think it was appropriate to 
say that nothing should be built there. He did not think that office space would be appropriate for the 
same reason as residential because it is a large traffic generator. He thought uses like service industrial 
with light traffic impacts were most appropriate. 
 
J. Gerstle agreed that service industrial would be a better use for the site. He expressed concerns 
about senior housing given the transportation limitations for residents who may not drive. Though the 
residential use was granted by-right, he did not think that it met the BVCP intentions.  
 
A. Brockett thought that this site would function best as open space and expressed concern about 
putting residential uses on this site. He did not think that this would be a good place to live given the 
fumes and noise from the two highways, trains and planes. He thought service industrial or office 
would be a better use for the site. He could possibly imagine a small amount of residential cloaked 
within other uses. Though there are bus stops, they are difficult to access and thought cyclists would 
not likely use the path regularly to run errands. Community Cycles did not advocate for this proposal. 
 
B. Bowen felt warmer to the site than the others. He used to commute by bike through this site and 
understood why cycling could be a theme for the project and the way to tackle residential on this site.  
 
C. Gray thought that the applicant did a good job with a tough site but did not think the predominant 
use should be residential. She worried that it would not be a liveable place for residents and felt the 
site was isolated on an island. She would prefer to see commercial uses and buffer the site as has been 
proposed. 
 
L. Payton appreciated the staff memo and wanted to incorporate staff’s concerns into her comments 
without reiterating them. She noted that when a development was last proposed on this site, the 
Planning Board said it was uninhabitable. The DRCOG report said that the traffic will increase 
considerably in the future and habitability will get worse. She did not think that the residents would 
open windows or go out to use the open space. 
 
 
Edge Conditions 
J. Putnam felt that the site is challenged, but he did not consider this to be a median. He did not think 
that a park and ride would be appropriate in this location as the traffic was already problematic. He 
thought that the McKensie well should be sited to stand out by itself in the field. This could serve as an 
historical reminder of fossil fuel use. 
 
L. May thought a natural edge to the city would be most effective and suggested that the city should 
buy this site. 
 
J. Gerstle thought that a park and ride or rest station would be a good use and was worth considering 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  47Packet Page 99



 
 
 

in conjunction with service industrial.  
 
A. Brockett agreed with the applicant that the view of the Flatirons should be the gateway, but 
thought the proposal was less of a gateway and more of an edge. Keep it subtle to let the views of the 
Flatirons be the edge. He cited the large art project at the entry point to Longmont. Something of that 
nature could be incorporated on this site. 
 
B. Bowen agreed that softer edge to town was more appropriate than a large and powerful building. 
Small houses make good edges from rural highways. The gateway is the view to the flatirons.  
 
C. Gray liked the landscape concept but felt that it would be more natural to continue the softer edge 
from Four Mile Creek. She did not think that iconic architecture was appropriate and noted that it is 
unlikely that the city would purchase the site for open space; the city’s policy is not to buy Area 1 
properties due to cost. 
 
Residential Use  
J. Putnam noted that there are other residential sites that have higher noise loads and asked that the 
applicant address acoustic considerations through design. This will be a rental property and therefore 
will likely have a higher tolerance for noise. He asked the applicant to return with noise levels in terms 
of LEQ and day/night levels integrating the train and aircraft considerations. His largest concern about 
residential uses on this site pertained to the islanding effect. Bike connections could help. Use alternate 
transit data to show that the site will not be isolated. 
 
A. Brockett thought this site would always be predominantly accessed by cars. Consider incorporating 
retail that is predominantly accessed by car, i.e. washing machine vendors. 
 
B. Bowen agreed that the site could be good for other uses with less traffic and trips. He thought the 
proposed neighborhoods functioned well without the open space within them as mountains and views 
work as open space.  
 
C. Gray thought transition and office uses would be okay for the property but expressed concern 
about residential use. Some office uses generate less traffic than others. Keep bike connection concept. 
Don’t underestimate Boulder bikers and where they’ll ride.  
 
L. Payton felt that the site should be used as a well designed rest stop as opposed to residential. 
Incorporate interpretive signage with the history of the oil rig, Diagonal Highway, etc. Consider 
AMPS goals as well; this could be a site for well-designed parking outside of the city to connect to bus 
service. She felt that the site is a median; the continuity of the median from Boulder to Longmont is 
important 
 
 
Transportation and Access 
J. Putnam requested that the applicant provide an intense traffic analysis with a TDM plan that 
includes a large amount of alternate modes and traffic generation potential. Look at planned 
improvements to sidewalks and access. Include vehicle charging infrastructure. He liked the proposed 
bike and locker infrastructure. 
 
A. Brockett noted that the proposed underpass is critical and important. 
 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  48Packet Page 100



 
 
 

B. Bowen noted that the traffic concerns were important and questioned what the surrounding roads 
will be like in the future. Look at means for mitigating and funneling traffic. Have good retail 
exposure and mental mapping for parking. Look at simplifying traffic circulation specifically driving 
through retail to get to residential areas and the absence of a left hand turn onto Jay Road. Work with 
the County to add infrastructure connections through adjacent open space. 
 
C. Gray wanted to see a vibrant TDM plan and possible Eco Passes through she noted that bus access 
is difficult from this site.  
 
L. Payton requested that the applicant provide an analysis of the expected traffic on all adjacent roads 
in the future, not just traffic to and from the development.  
 
 
Other Comments 
B. Holicky, the applicant, noted that service industrial and some of those uses discussed by the 
Planning Board are not currently allowed on this site. 
 
L. May recommended that the BVCP update consider this parcel and make other uses allowable. He 
did not feel that the current land use and zoning are appropriate for this parcel because of its isolation 
and location between highways. 
 
 
 

5. MATTERS FROM THE PLANNING BOARD, PLANNING DIRECTOR, AND CITY 
ATTORNEY 

 The Planning Board will meet at 5 p.m. before the next meeting to discuss findings 
from the APA conference.  

 
 Brockett mentioned that staff might consider a two night hearing for the SPARK 

project. 
 

 BDAB would like feedback from the Planning Board where they would be the most 
useful.  

 
 B. Bowen noted that it is difficult for the Planning Board to make changes to 

architecture during site review; it could be appropriate to send such items to BDAB and 
to clarify their focus areas. 

 
 L. May thought it would be valuable for BDAB to focus on the architecture. There 

have been times that projects went to BDAB before they came to Planning Board and 
there were problems with discrepancies n feedback/opinions. He thought it would be 
better for projects to go to BDAB after Concept Review and before Site Review. That 
would allow the boards to work together better. He thought Design Review on 
Landmarks Board works well and suggested instating a similar process utilizing 
BDAB. 

 
 A. Brockett requested that BDAB concentrate on architecture and refrain from 

commenting on use, scale and mass. 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  49Packet Page 101



 
 
 

 
 C. Gray agreed and asked that BDAB also address public realm. 

 
 L. May noted that he and C. Gray are on the Housing Process Committee. Council is 

interested in having a similar committee for the Comp Plan update. Reserve space to 
discuss this at the June agenda. 

 
6. DEBRIEF MEETING/CALENDAR CHECK 

 
7. ADJOURNMENT 

The Planning Board adjourned the meeting at 8:22 p.m. 
  
APPROVED BY 
  
___________________  
Board Chair 
 
___________________ 
DATE 

 

Agenda Item 2C     Page  50Packet Page 102



 
 

CITY OF BOULDER 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA ITEM 

 

MEETING DATE: August 6, 2015 

 
 
AGENDA TITLE:  Request for Council direction regarding proposed a draft lease with 
the Colorado Chautauqua Association.     
 
 
 
 
PRESENTERS  

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
Tom Carr, City Attorney 
David Driskell, Executive Director, Community Planning and Sustainability 
Maureen Rait, Executive Director, Public Works 
Molly Winter, Executive Director, Downtown & University Hill Management Division 
and Parking Services 
Yvette Bowden, Director, Parks and Recreation 
Tracy Winfree, Director, Open Space and Mountain Parks 
Mike Sweeney, Director, Public Works for Transportation 
 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

For 117 years, the City of Boulder has partnered with the Colorado Chautauqua 
Association and its predecessor the Texas Colorado Chautauqua Association to create 
and maintain the Colorado Chautauqua.  Since 1898, there have been nine lease renewals, 
modifications or renegotiations.  The current lease, which was adopted on January 14, 
1998 and modified on August 12, 2002, expires on January 13, 2018.  It can adversely 
affect a tenant’s (cottage owner’s or other CCA tenant’s) ability to obtain financing or 
CCA’s ability to enter into multi-year contracts (e.g., with Colorado Music Festival or the 
Dining Hall operator) if a lease of this nature is allowed to come too close to its 
expiration date.  Accordingly, both the city and CCA have a desire to enter into a new 
lease this year, effective January 1, 2016. 
 

At a February 10, 2015 study session, Council considered and discussed options 
of a new lease with CCA.  On February 17, 2015, Council created a Chautauqua Lease 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  1Packet Page 103



Committee, consisting of two council members, two CCA representatives and one 
cottage owner.  Between April and July, the committee met six times in meetings 
facilitated by Heather Bergman and supported by city staff.  The meetings were open to 
the public and several community members attended and offered comments at each 
session.  Minutes of each meeting were taken and published online, as were iterations of 
the lease as it was being revised.  The committee has approved draft revisions to the 
lease, which are shown in attachment A.  The purpose of this agenda item is to receive 
council feedback regarding these proposed changes.  If Council is generally supportive of 
proposed lease, staff will seek feedback at a joint meeting of the Landmarks Board, the 
Open Space Board of Trustees, the Park and Recreation Advisory Board and the 
Transportation Advisory Board.  Taking into account that feedback, Council will be 
asked to consider approval of the lease in September or October.   
 
Discussion 

 

The following highlights the major changes in the lease.  Overall the goal was to 
update the lease to reflect the current relationship between the city and CCA, recognizing 
the shared values and important role that Chautauqua plays in our community.  In 2012, 
the city council developed a stewardship framework for Chautauqua, including the 
adoption of Guiding Principles for Place Management and Fiscal Sustainability on 
December 4, 2012.  These Guiding Principles balance the need to preserve, protect and 
maintain Chautauqua’s historic character with the needs of diverse stakeholders and user 
groups.  The Guiding Principles are expressly incorporated as part of the lease and 
specifically reference three times.  In large part the revisions to the lease were guided by 
Council’s earlier stewardship conversation. 
 
Significant Changes to the Lease 

 

 The following is a discussion of the significant changes to the lease.  They are 
presented here in the order in which they appear in the lease to make it easier to follow.  
The order, therefore, is not reflective of the significance of the change.   
 
 A.   Term (Paragraph 1, page 2) 

 

 Under section 111 of the Boulder Home Rule Charter, most city leases cannot be 
more than 20 years.  A lease can be up to thirty years “upon approval by a two-thirds vote 
of all council members if the tenant makes significant improvements to the property that 
the council finds provide a public benefit.”  CCA would prefer a thirty year lease.  The 
two council members of the committee did not feel comfortable recommending such a 
term, considering the language in the charter reserving to council the question whether 
there is or will be “significant improvements . . . that the council finds provide a public 
benefit.”  Accordingly, the recommended provision is for a term of twenty years, with a 
provision for a new 20-year term beginning January 1, 2026 – ten years into the lease – if 
neither council nor the CCA board objects.  Depending on Council’s reaction to this 
proposal, CCA might still advocate for a  30-year term.    
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  2Packet Page 104



 B.  Rent (Paragraph 2, page 2) 

 

 The current lease requires CCA to pay $2,000 in lieu of ad valorem taxes and rent 
of $2,500.  The committee recommended that this provision be eliminated and replaced 
with a provision calling for rent of one dollar.  The committee reasoned that considering 
the value of the property, the current rent is little more than symbolic.  Moreover, the real 
value to the city lies not in the rent paid, but the maintenance, upkeep and capital 
investment that CCA makes at Chautauqua.  This change would also bring the 
Chautauqua lease in line with the city leases for the Boulder Museum of Contemporary 
Art, the Dairy Center for the Arts and the Boulder History Museum.  BMOCA and the 
Dairy Center each pay one dollar per year.  The Boulder History Museum is treated as a 
contractor and does not pay rent.   
 
 C.  Responsibilities (Paragraph 3, pages 2-3) 

 

 The “Responsibilities” paragraph provides important guidance about the use and 
maintenance of the leasehold area.  Several provisions in the current lease go far beyond 
what would be considered acceptable today.  There is also some ambiguity in the 
language regarding maintenance responsibilities.  The committee attempted to clarify the 
roles and incorporate the Guiding Principles into the language allowing CCA to make 
changes at Chautauqua.  The current lease reads as follow: 
 

The Association shall have the privilege of remodeling the buildings and 
improvements and making such substitutions, additions, modifications and 
improvements thereto as the Association may deem proper   
 

The breadth of this language is not unusual for a ground lease, but it does not reflect our 
current community values.  Accordingly, the committee added the following 
qualification: 
 

Any such substitutions, additions, modifications and improvements shall 
be governed by the Collaborative Place Management provisions of 
Guiding Principles for Place Management and Fiscal Sustainability as set 
forth in Exhibit B and be subject to all other city requirements.   
 

 The committee’s intent is that any change will require compliance with the 
Guiding Principles and any other city requirement, for example obtaining a landmarks 
alternation certificate when required under the code.   
 
 The current lease requires the city to maintain the “public streets.”  This term is 
not defined.  It may have been an attempt to exclude alleys.  The new language is 
intended to clarify the city’s responsibilities and to conform to current practice.   
 
 Both CCA and the city anticipate the need to perform major renovation of the 
streets and underground utilities at Chautauqua.  The need to perform this work will not 
limit normal maintenance of these facilities.   

Agenda Item 3A     Page  3Packet Page 105



 
 D.  By-Laws and Articles of Incorporation (Paragraph 4, page 4) 

 

 Currently, the city is entitled to appoint two of fifteen board members.  In the 
lease, this is written as two-fifteenths of the board.   The committee revised this language 
to specify two members and to prohibit expansion of the board beyond its current size.  In 
the event that CCA decides to reduce the size of its board, the city’s representation will 
never be less than two members.  In addition, this paragraph was amended to require that 
one city appointee shall be a city council member.   
 
 E. Use of Facilities (Paragraph 5, page 4) 

 

 The current lease requires that CCA give the facilities “the widest practicable use 
in terms of scope and time.”  The committee removed this language and replaced it with 
the following that is intended to reflect a more contemporary view of CCA’s role: 
 

[I]t is the intent of the parties that the leased facilities be managed such 
that needs and interests of many are balanced in a manner that protects the 
site and spirit of Chautauqua.  The leasehold area should be used, 
managed and preserved in a manner consistent with the community’s 
sustainability goals and with sensitivity to impacts on surrounding 
residential neighborhoods, while allowing the Association to remain 
financially viable without city subsidy. 

 
This language includes several important concepts:   
 

 CCA is no longer expected to maximize use.   
 It incorporates preservation into CCA’s responsibilities.   
 It incorporates the city’s sustainability goals. 
 It requires sensitivity to the impacts on the surrounding residential neighborhoods.  
 It recognizes that CCA needs to generate sufficient revenue to meet its 

responsibilities without city subsidy.   

F.  Traffic Control and Parking (Paragraph 6, page 5) 

 

 The committee changed the title of this paragraph to Access and Parking.  The 
committee believes that the lease is not the appropriate means to address traffic control 
and parking at Chautauqua.  The lease addresses only a portion of the greater Chautauqua 
area and only involves one stakeholder.  The committee recognized that “Chautauqua 
needs a tailored access management to balance the access of the variety of users and 
modes while also maintaining natural, built and historic environments.” Accordingly, the 
lease provides for a Chautauqua Access Management Plan (CAMP) to be developed by 
next year and then periodically updated, to address the needs and responsibilities of all 
users.   
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  4Packet Page 106



Staff recommends that the approach to developing CAMP be based on the 
principles detailed in the lease which implies a holistic, comprehensive and area-wide 
approach.  Staff anticipates that given the different uses and unique character of the area a 
variety of tools and innovative approaches will be needed to meet the needs and 
challenges of the area.  Staff will use existing access management strategies such as 
Neighborhood Parking Permit zones, paid and managed parking, integration with multi-
modal strategies as the starting point for designing the tailored solutions needed to 
address the access needs within the Chautauqua lease area, the adjacent park and open 
space areas and the surrounding neighborhoods.   

 
Staff will recommend implementation of Pilot Programs to test potential 

innovative solutions when appropriate.  Substantial data were collected in 2011 and 2012 
regarding the parking and use of the area as part of a prior access management effort.  
Because the OSMP visitation data used for this prior work dates back to 2005 and 
appears to capture visitation more broadly than at Chautauqua alone, OSMP is updating 
local visitation data through a special target study in the late summer of this year.  

 
The development of the CAMP will have budget and resource impacts on all 

parties and will need to be integrated into the work plans of the city and the Chautauqua 
Association.  Staff will work in collaboration with CCA and involve the other 
stakeholders and the surrounding neighborhoods.   
 

Staff will develop a public process which involves soliciting input from 
stakeholders in the area, as well as reporting to and solicitation of feedback from key 
Boards and Commissions, before bringing a final recommendation to the City Council.  
The Council will receive periodic updates from staff as the project progresses.    
 
 G. Covenant Not to Incur Liens (Paragraph 9, Page 7) 

 

 The current lease limits liens to $1 million.  The committee changed this to 
CCA’s “reasonable ability to pay based on Association revenue.”  The title of this 
paragraph was changed to “Liens.”   
 
 H.  Permitting (Paragraph 11, page 8) 

 

 This paragraph required that CCA and the city agree on a process for permitting 
activities in the park and required an annual meeting.  In fact, staff meets with CCA 
regularly and much more frequently than annually.  In addition, the paragraph did not 
address open space.  Accordingly, the paragraph has been renamed “Coordination” and 
eliminates the annual review provision.   
 
 I.  Limitation on Subleases (Paragraph 14, page 9) 

  

 This paragraph has been removed and replaced with a new paragraph 15, entitled 
“Subleases,” which appears on page 9.  The current lease devotes several pages to the 
limitations on the ability of private cottage owners to sell their cottages.  CCA and the 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  5Packet Page 107



cottage owners are in the process of renegotiating these provisions as well as others.  The 
committee decided that it would be a better practice to simply incorporate the sublease 
into the lease by reference.     
 
 The new paragraph also requires that CCA assess the cottage owners for a portion 
of CCA’s contribution to the major utility renovations discussed in paragraph 3.  The 
final language of this paragraph is still being negotiated.   
 
 J. Privately Owned Cottages (New, Paragraph 14, page 13) 

 

 This paragraph recognizes the importance of the private cottages.  It requires 
CCA to lease land to the cottage owners.  It also limits CCA’s ability to acquire 
additional cottages only if the acquisition meets strategic guidelines set established by the 
board of directors.  CCA also agrees to maintain its current practice of increasing rents 
only to cover increased costs through inflation.   
 
 K. Miscellaneous (Paragraph 17, page 15) 

 

 In the current lease, the lease can be terminated immediately based on any breach.  
The committee recommended removing the word immediately and allowing an 
opportunity to fix the problem. 
 
 L. Amendment (New, Paragraph 18, page 16) 

 

 There was no provision in the existing contract for amendment of the lease.  This 
paragraph provides a process for amendment. 
 
 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A – Lease with Draft Revisions 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  6Packet Page 108



 

1 
 

LEASE 

 

THIS LEASE, made and entered into this ____ day of ___________, 2015, by and 

between  the City of Boulder, Colorado, a Colorado home rule city ("City"), and the Colorado 

Chautauqua Association, a Colorado non-profit corporation ("Association").  

WITNESSETH:  

WHEREAS, the City and the Association have maintained for approximately one 

hundred and seventeen years a mutually beneficial relationship in the establishment and 

maintenance of a Chautauqua assembly for the benefit of the Boulder community and its visitors; 

and 

WHEREAS, the entire Chautauqua (a portion of which is described in Exhibit A attached 

hereto) was entered into the City, state and national registers of historic places as ana historic 

district in 1978; and was designated a National Historic Landmark district by the U.S. Secretary 

of the Interior in 2006; and 

WHEREAS, the preservation of the Chautauqua heritage for the benefit of future 

generations  and the operation  of the Chautauqua  for the benefit  of all are the primary 

objectives of both parties; 

WHEREAS, the existing Lease agreement between the parties will expire on March 6, 

2001January 14, 2018; and 

WHEREAS, the parties have determined that it is in the interests of both to renew the 

existing Lease on the terms and conditions set forth below; and  

Agenda Item 3A     Page  7Packet Page 109



 

2 
 

WHEREAS, on December 4, 2012, the Boulder City Council adopted Guiding Principles 

for Place Management and Fiscal Sustainability, which are attached as Exhibit B and which are 

incorporated as if set fully forth in this lease agreement.   

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereby agree as follows: 

1.  TERM.  The City hereby leases to the Association the real property described in 

Exhibit A attached hereto to the Association for a period of twenty years, beginning January 14, 

19981, 2016, and ending December 31, 2036.  The parties agree that if, during the six-month 

period prior to January 1, 2026, neither party objects, the Lease will be extended automatically 

for a period of twenty years commencing on January 1, 2026, and concluding on December 31, 

2046.  Any such objection may be made by an affirmative vote of the majority of the City 

Council or by an affirmative vote of a majority of the Association’s Board of Directors.  In the 

event that a party so objects, the term of the Lease shall end on December 31, 2036.  The City 

reserves the right to replace the description contained in Exhibit A by a more detailed survey of 

the land in question, at any time. 

2.  RENT.  As rent, and as partial consideration for this Lease, the Association agrees to 

pay to the City on or before OctoberJanuary 1 of every calendar year during the termTerm hereof 

athe sum of money calculated as follows:one dollar.  

A. In lieu of City ad valorem taxes on the real property described in Exhibit A, the 

Association shall pay $2,000.00 per annum to the City. 

B.  As rental for the use of the real property described in Exhibit A, the Association 

shall pay $2,500.00 per annum to the City. 

3.  RESPONSIBILITIES.  Chautauqua encompasses multiple ownerships and missions; 

the needs and interests of many must be balanced in a manner that protects the site and spirit of 

Chautauqua, in keeping with Guiding Principles for Place Management and Fiscal Sustainability.  

Agenda Item 3A     Page  8Packet Page 110



 

3 
 

Management decisions about surrounding uses should be made with sensitivity to potential 

impacts on the Association’s leasehold area.  The Association accepts responsibility for the 

maintenance and improvement of all buildings and improvements located on the real property 

described in Exhibit A, except for private cottages and the public restrooms immediately below 

the Dining Hall.  With respect to suchthe Dining Hall and public restrooms, the City shall assume 

all costs of regular and reasonable cleaning and maintenance, supplies and water, annual painting, 

and major maintenance, including, without limitation, replacement of obsolete or unserviceable 

fixtures.  The Association shall maintain, preserve and keep all buildings and improvements for 

which it is responsible in good repair, working order and condition and shall make or cause to be 

made all necessary repairs and improvements to that end.  The Association shall have the 

privilege of remodeling the buildings and improvements and making such substitutions, 

additions, modifications and improvements thereto as the Association may deem proper.  Any 

such substitutions, additions, modifications and improvements shall be governed by the 

Collaborative Place Management provisions of Guiding Principles for Place Management and 

Fiscal Sustainability as set forth in Exhibit B and be subject to all other city requirements.  The 

Association agrees to implement all feasible procedural safeguards in the operation of the 

Auditorium;, the Dining Hall and the Academic Hall so as to minimize the likelihood of serious 

fire.  Subject to the availability of appropriations therefor, the City shall: 

A.  Provide all ongoing City services, such as police, fire, animal control, and the 

likesimilar services, to the area described in Exhibit A; and shall assume the 

maintenance of e public streets and public utilities of such area and the park areas 

adjacent thereto; 

B. Plant screening landscape around the parking lot parcel separately described in 

Exhibit A; and 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  9Packet Page 111



 

4 
 

B.  The City shall provide for the maintenance of the streets, but not the alleyways.  The 

parties recognize that the streets in the leasehold area are part of the historic nature of 

Chautauqua.  The city shall not be responsible for maintaining such streets to the level 

of normal city standards for city streets.  The city shall make such minor and incidental 

repairs as may be necessary to keep the streets serviceable.  The city shall provide 

snowplowing for such streets as resources are available consistent with other city 

priorities.  

C.  If the Association is unable to secure grant funding for replacement after all 

reasonable efforts, pay for the cost of replacing the wooden roofs on the Dining Hall and 

the Auditorium (stage roof only) before or by 2014The parties agree that in the 

foreseeable future, major renovation of the streets, and drainage system will be 

necessary, and that on-going maintenance of the water mains and sanitary sewers will 

continue and prioritized with other city utility maintenance work.  The parties intend 

that the renovation of infrastructure will be coordinated with moving the overhead 

utilities underground. 

4.  BY-LAWS AND ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION.  Throughout the term -Term 

of this Lease, two-fifteenths (2/15) of the Association's Board of Directors shall be appointed by 

vote of the City Council., one of whom shall be a member of City Council.  Without the written 

permission of the City, the Association shall have no more than 15 members of its Board of 

Directors, inclusive of those appointed by the City 

5.  USE OF FACILITIES.  The Association shall have year-round use of all of the real 

property described in Exhibit A, and it is the intent of the parties that the leased facilities be given 

the widest practicable use in terms of scope and time.managed such that needs and interests of 

many are balanced in a manner that protects the site and spirit of Chautauqua.  The leasehold area 

should be used, managed and preserved in a manner consistent with the community’s 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  10Packet Page 112



 

5 
 

sustainability goals and with sensitivity to impacts on surrounding residential neighborhoods, 

while allowing the Association to remain financially viable without city subsidy.  At a minimum, 

the Association shall schedule a summer entertainment program in the Auditorium annually 

beginning no later than June 15 and extending to at least August 31.  Such programming shall 

include at least 15 live performances. 

6.  TRAFFIC CONTROLACCESS AND PARKING.  The Association shall have the 

following rights MANAGEMENT.  As a national, regional and powers with respect to entry 

intolocal landmark and parking within attraction, Chautauqua needs a tailored access 

management strategy to balance the access of the areas described in Exhibit A: 

A. The Association shall be entitled, at its discretion, to deny or regulate motor 

vehicle entry into such areas whenvariety of users and modes while also 

maintaining the available parking space therein has been filled or is close to 

being filled. For purposes of exercising this right, the Association may deny or 

regulate entry at the entrance to the park on Baseline Road and/or on 12th Street. 

In exercising this right, the Association will use its best efforts to direct motor 

vehicles which are denied entry to available parking space on the north side of 

Baseline Roadnatural, built, and 12th Street, and will otherwise use its best 

efforts to minimize the impact of motor vehicle parking and traffic in the 

residential neighborhoods adjacent to the park. 

B.  The Association shall be entitled, at its discretion, to impose a charge for parking 

within such areas. 

historic environments.  The Association and the City agree that the absence of a 

dependable and coherent residential parking schemeprogram in the areas described in Exhibit A 

has adversely affected the Association's operations, the maintenance of a Chautauqua assembly 

and its attendant mission, and the experiences of those who reside or stay in such areas in order to 

enjoy and experience the Chautauqua.  The Association and the City further agree that a solution 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  11Packet Page 113



 

6 
 

to the foregoing problems requires the adoption and implementation of a residential permit 

parking system or similar plan, which reasonably assures to each cottage a reasonably convenient 

on or off street parking space.  To that end, the City shall direct its staff to work with the 

Association to design such a system or plan, and shall use its best efforts to adopt the same as an 

Ordinance of the City, enforceable in the same manner as other City Ordinances of a similar 

nature.  But such commitment shall not impair the legislative authority of the City 

Council.Chautauqua.  The parties recognize that during peak periods, parking demand for all uses 

within and around Chautauqua far exceeds supply.  The movement of vehicles looking for 

parking presents safety issues and degrades the visitor experience.  During the first year of this 

Lease, the parties commit to develop a Chautauqua Access Management Plan, which shall be 

thereafter periodically reviewed and revised by the parties to address current circumstances and 

conditions.  That plan shall be governed by the following principles: 

 Chautauqua is a unique shared resource requiring unique solutions. 
 Chautauqua is a National Historic Landmark. 
 A mix of uses must be accommodated. 
 Pedestrians must be given priority on the narrow streets without sidewalks.  
 Traffic circulation should be minimized in the interests of pedestrian safety and 

user experience. 
 Parking demand is seasonal and solutions need not address time periods during 

which access is readily available. 
 During peak periods, the parking needs of users in the historic core should be 

prioritized, but not exclusive. 
 A seasonal transportation demand management (TDM) plan for employees should 

be implemented. 
 The interests of the surrounding neighbors should be addressed.  
 Any plan should be flexible to address changing circumstances.  
 Access management should be consistent with the Guiding Principles for Place 

Management and Fiscal Sustainability. 
 Consistent with the City’s climate commitment and sustainability and resiliency 

goals, any plan should support public transit, alternative modes of transportation, 
and a reduction in vehicle miles traveled. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  12Packet Page 114



 

7 
 

7.  NON-DISCRIMINATION.  The Association shall abide by all relevant City, state and 

federal legislation concerning non-discrimination in the offering of housing and public 

accommodations and in admissions to public events. 

8.  INSURANCE.  The Association shall cause public liability insurance to be carried and 

maintained, at all times during the term hereof, with respect to all activities to be undertaken by 

the Association on or in connection with the real property described in Exhibit A.  Such public 

liability insurance shall be in amounts not less than the then applicable coverage amounts for any 

injury to one person in any single occurrence and coverage amounts for any injury to two or more 

persons in any single occurrence set forth in Section 24-10-114, C.R.S. 1973, as amended, but not 

less than $150,000.00 for any injury to one person in any single occurrence.  Insurance purchased 

by the Association pursuant to this section shall name the City as an additional named insured, 

and a certificate evidencing the insurance coverage required by this section shall be provided at 

least annually to the City.  Each insurance policy provided pursuant to this section shall contain a 

provision to the effect that the insurance company shall not cancel the policy or modify it 

materially and adversely to the interests of the City, without first giving actual written notice 

thereof to the City at least ten days in advance of such cancellation or modification. 

9.  COVENANT NOT TO INCUR LIENS.  The Association shall not incur liens greater 

than a total of $1 million dollarsits reasonable ability to repay based on the leasehold described in 

Exhibit A or on any of the buildings or improvements located thereon not owned by the 

City,Association revenue.  The Association shall obtain proper bonds to insure against any such 

liens and shall post the land prominently to indicateinclude provision in any relevant document 

stating that the City shall not be responsible for any indebtedness or liens incurred. 

10.  ASSOCIATION TO ASSUME DUTIES OF CITY: INDEMNIFICATION.  The 

Association shall assume any and all duties withwhich might otherwise be imputed to the City by 

virtue of its continued ownership of the public buildings located on the real property described in 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  13Packet Page 115



 

8 
 

Exhibit A, except for the public restrooms. located on the lower level/north side of the Dining 

Hall building.  The Association agrees to indemnity and save harmless the City against any and 

all claims, debts, demands, or obligations which may be asserted against the City arising by 

reason of, or in connection with, the City's ownership of the aforementioned public buildings and 

any alleged act or omission of the Association on or in connection with the real property 

described in Exhibit A. 

11.  PERMITTINGCOORDINATION.  The Association and the City shall develop a 

mutually agreeable process for sharing information concerning planned activities and events in 

the City park and open space adjacent to the real propertyAssociation’s leasehold described in 

Exhibit A, and concerning the receipt, review and grant of permits for activities in the park.  The 

process by which information will be shared, needed agreements reached and applications for 

permits reviewed and approved shall be included in an annual review of issues and procedures 

conducted between the Parks and Recreation Department and the Association, and may be 

renegotiated at any time upon request of either party.those City adjacent areas.  

12.  INSPECTION OF BOOKS.  The Association shall maintain its principal office on 

the Chautauqua grounds and shall keep and maintain the books of the Association at such office.  

The books and records of the Association shall be subject to inspection and examination by the 

City at all times. 

13.  ANNUAL REPORT AND AUDIT.  The Association shall provide an annual report 

to the City on or before March 1st ofJune 15th of each year detailing the following performance 

indicators: number and type of performances; number of attendees in Auditorium, Community 

House and other programming venues; estimated number of City residents served; estimated 

number of Boulder youth served; number of tickets and free admissions provided to community 

organizations and individuals; number of free (no cost) events sponsored by the Association; 

description of outreach efforts to diverse populations/communities of color in Boulder; number of 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  14Packet Page 116



 

9 
 

low or no cost rentals to non-profit or governmental groups in the community; and number and 

type of partnerships with other arts and cultural organizations.  The foregoing report shall 

accompany an annual financial audit also submitted to the City.  Subsequent to the receipt of the 

annual report and the annual audit, the City Manager or his/her designee shall convene a meeting 

to discuss any d all issues that may exist between the City and the Association. This meeting may 

be combined with the annual review described in Section 11 above. 

14.  LIMITATIONS ON SUBLEASES.  The Association shall provide in all subleases to 

owners of private cottages that: 

A. No sublease shall be assigned or further let without prior written approval of the 

Association, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 

B.  Upon termination or nonrenewal of such sublease, the owner of the 

improvements on the property shall have the choice to remove such 

improvements from the property.  Any improvements not removed within six 

months shall automatically become the property of the Association. 

C. As a condition of continued tenancy, each cottage owner shall, prior to 

transferring an ownership interest in the cottage to or for the benefit of any 

person not related to the owner within the fourth degree of consanguinity 

including marriage or adoption, as set forth in the chart attached as Exhibit B), 

offer, in writing, to sell all ownership interests in the cottage to the Association 

(the "Offer").  The Association shall have twenty one (21) days from the date it 

receives the Offer to notify the owner in writing of its determination to proceed 

with the offer (the "Continuation Notice").  If the Association fails to provide the 

Continuation Notice within twenty one (21) days following its receipt of the 

Offer, the owner may freely transfer his or her interest in the cottage during the 

rest of the year, ending on the anniversary of the Association's receipt of the 

Offer.  At the conclusion of that year, the provisions this paragraph shall again be 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  15Packet Page 117



 

10 
 

triggered by any proposed transfer beyond the fourth degree of consanguinity (as 

defined above).  If the Association provides the Continuation Notice within 

twenty one (21) days following its receipt of the Offer, the owner and the 

Association shall proceed as follows: 

(i)  For the thirty (30) days immediately following the Association's provision of 

the Continuation Notice, the Association and the owner shall negotiate 

concerning the price to be paid by the Association for the purchase of all 

ownership interests in the cottage (the "Negotiated Purchase Price").  If, within or 

at the conclusion of that thirty (30) day period, the Association and the owner 

agree in writing n a Negotiated Purchase Price, then the owner shall transfer all 

ownership interests in the cottage to the Association for payment of the 

Negotiated Purchase Price at a closing occurring at date and time mutually 

agreeable to the parties, but no later than forty five (45) days after the date on 

which agreement was reached on the Purchase Price.  Payment of the Negotiated 

Purchase Price at the closing shall be apportioned and allocated as follows: first, 

to the payment of any and all ad valorem or other taxes then due and owing on 

the cottage, or which will be due and owing for the calendar year, tax year or 

other relevant period up to the date of closing; second, to the full payment and 

satisfaction of any and all liens, encumbrances, assessments or other obligations 

secured by the cottage or any interest in the cottage; third, to the owner or his/her 

designee. 

(ii)  If the Association and the owner are not able to agree in writing on a 

Negotiated Purchase Price within the thirty (30) day period set forth above, then 

within seven (7) days after the termination of the thirty (30) days, the owner and 

the Association shall jointly request a list of six (6) appraisers from the Appraisal 

Institute or such other association or group of professional appraisers as may be 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  16Packet Page 118



 

11 
 

specified in the sublease to which the Association and the owner are parties. The 

listed appraisers shall have no prior or current professional or financial 

relationship with the Association or the owner, shall not have a family 

relationship of any type with the owner, and shall have the following minimum 

qualifications: a) an MAI or SRA certification; b) a minimum of seven (7) years 

experience in the appraisal of real estate; c) a .minimum of five (5) years 

experience in the appraisal of real estate in the Denver-Boulder metropolitan 

area. 

(iii)  Within seven (7) days after receipt of the list of appraisers, the owner and 

the Association shall meet to select two appraisers from the list.  The Association 

and the owner shall each take turns striking one appraiser from the list until only 

two appraisers remain (collectively, the "Impartial Appraisers"). 

(iv)  The Association/ and the owner shall jointly inform each Impartial 

Appraiser of his/her selection, and shall jointly request that each Impartial 

Appraiser promptly appraise the value of the cottage without regard to the value 

of the land on which it is situated and which the owner is entitled to use and 

occupy by virtue of his or her sublease with the Association, without regard to 

any offer which may have been made for the purchase of the cottage, without 

regard to any contract of sale which may then be outstanding with respect to the 

cottage, and without communicating with the other Impartial Appraiser 

concerning his or her appraisal of the cottage.  Each Impartial Appraiser shall 

issue a written report of his or her appraisal to the Association and the owner (an 

"Appraisal Report"). Except as set forth below, the Association and the owner 

shall be equally responsible for the payment of all fees and costs charged by the 

Impartial Appraisers in preparing the Appraisal Reports. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  17Packet Page 119



 

12 
 

(v)  The average of the values of the cottage set forth in the Appraisal Reports 

shall constitute the price which the Association must pay in order to purchase all 

ownership interests in the cottage (the "Appraised  Purchase Price").  The 

Association shall have twenty one (21) days from its receipt of the second 

Appraisal Report in which to notify the owner of its intent to purchase all 

ownership interests in the cottage at the Appraised Purchase Price (the "Purchase 

Notice").  If the Association fails to provide the Purchase Notice within twenty 

one (21) days following its receipt of the second Appraisal Report, the owner 

may freely transfer his or her interest in the cottage during the rest of the year, 

ending on the anniversary of the Association's receipt of the second Appraisal 

Report.  At the conclusion of that year, the provisions this paragraph C shall 

again be triggered by any proposed transfer beyond the fourth degree of 

consanguinity (as defined above). 

(vi)  If the Association provides the Purchase Notice within twenty one (21) days 

following its receipt of the second Appraisal Report, the Association shall be 

entitled to purchase and receive all ownership interests in the cottage on the 

terms set forth below unless, within thirty (30) days following his or her receipt 

of the Purchase Notice, the owner notifies the Association in writing of his/her 

decision to terminate the Purchase Notice (the "Termination Notice").  The 

Termination Notice shall be accompanied by payment from the owner to the 

Association in an amount equal to the Association's share of the fees and costs 

incurred and charged by the Impartial Appraisers in preparing the appraisal 

reports, and shall be void and ineffective unless accompanied by such payment. 

If the owner provides the Termination Notice and required payment to the 

Association on or within thirty (30) days following his or her receipt of the 

Purchase Notice, the Association's entitlement to purchase and receive all 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  18Packet Page 120



 

13 
 

ownership interests in the cottage shall terminate; provided, however, that the 

provisions of this paragraph C shall again be triggered by any proposed transfer 

beyond the fourth degree of consanguinity (as defined above), regardless of such 

transfer occurs or is proposed to occur. 

(vii)  If the Association provides the Purchase Notice within twenty one (21) 

days following its receipt of the second Appraisal Report, and if the owner does 

not provide the Termination Notice and required payment to the Association on 

or within thirty (30) days following his or her receipt of the Purchase Notice, the 

owner shall transfer all ownership interests in the cottage to the Association for 

payment of the Appraised Purchase Price at a closing occurring at a date and time 

mutually agreeable to the parties, but not later than forty five (45) days after the 

owner's receipt of the Purchase Notice. Payment of the Appraised Purchase Price 

at the closing shall be apportioned and allocated as follows: first, to the payment 

of any and all ad valorem or other taxes then due and owing on the cottage, or 

which will be due and owing for the calendar year, tax year or other relevant 

period up to the date of closing; second, to the full payment and satisfaction of 

any and all liens, encumbrances, assessments or other obligations secured by the 

cottage or any interest in the cottage; third, to the owner or his/her designee.   

In order to assure an objective purchase decision on the part of the Association, 

the Association shall maintain a reasonable reserve for the purchase of cottages, 

and no person with a current or prospective financial interest in the matter may 

vote on the Association's decision to set the amount of such reserve or to 

purchase or not to purchase a cottage. 

14.  PRIVATELY OWNED COTTAGES.  There are currently 39 privately-owned 

cottages at Chautauqua.  Private ownership of some of the cottages provides a contemporary 

sense of neighborhood and a link to Chautauqua’s history.  While some cottages have year-round 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  19Packet Page 121



 

14 
 

residents, others follow a historic pattern of use by families during the summer months.  

Recognizing the importance of private ownership, it is the intent of the parties that the number of 

privately-owned cottages shall not change significantly.  The Association shall sublease the land 

on which the private cottages are situated to the owners of each private cottage.  The Association 

has acquired a privately-owned cottage only once during the prior twenty year lease term.  The 

parties recognize, however, that the Association may choose to acquire cottages in furtherance of 

its mission to preserve, perpetuate and improve the site and spirit of the historic Chautauqua.  The 

Association agrees that it will only exercise the right of acquisition pursuant to strategic 

guidelines set forth by its board of directors and as necessary to further its mission.  The 

Association further agrees to maintain the current practice of increasing rents only to account for 

increased costs through inflation.   

15.  SUBLEASES.  The Association shall, as soon as practicable after the date of this 

lease, negotiate subleases with the private cottage owners (each a “Sublease”).  Each Sublease 

shall be substantially in form and content as set forth in Exhibit C attached hereto and shall have 

the same term as the term of this lease including any extension of the term as provided in 

paragraph 2.  As a condition of continued tenancy, the Association shall impose assessments upon 

the cottage owners sufficient to recover __ % of the Association’s share of the costs associated 

with the capital improvements described in paragraph 3(C).  

Nothing in this Section 1415 shall prohibit the Association and the owner from agreeing 

to provisions in the sublease which are supplemental or additional to the terms set forth above, 

provided that such supplemental or additional provisions are consistent with, and do not impair or 

limit, the terms set forth above. 

1516.  TERMINATION OR NONRENEWAL OF LEASE.  Upon the termination or 

nonrenewal of this Lease, all buildings and improvements on the real property described in 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  20Packet Page 122



 

15 
 

Exhibit A shall be removed within six months, and if not removed shall automatically become the 

property of the City of Boulder. 

1617.  MISCELLANEOUS.   

A. The legislation of the State of Colorado and the City of Boulder shall be applied 

in the interpretation, execution, implementation and enforcement hereof. 

B. In the event that any provision hereof shall be held to be unenforceable by any 

court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not invalidate or render 

unenforceable any other provision hereof. 

C. This Lease shall be terminable immediately by either party upon any breach of 

the terms hereof;.  No delay, omission or forbearance in exercising such right or 

power shall impair any such right or power or shall be construed as a waiver 

thereof, unless such waiver is expressly given in writing and signed by both 

parties.  Prior to termination, the party asserting breach shall provide notice 

immediately to the other party.  The party that is alleged to have breached the 

Lease shall have fourteen days to cure.  If the breach is not cured within fourteen 

days after notice, the Lease may be terminated.   

D. The captions contained herein are inserted for ease of reference only and shall 

not be construed to constitute or modify any part hereof. 

E. This Lease contains and constitutes the entire agreement  between  the City and 

the Association with respect to the subjects addressed herein, and all prior or 

contemporaneous agreements or leases between the City and the Association, 

whether written or oral, are merged in and superseded by this Lease. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  21Packet Page 123



 

16 
 

18.  AMENDMENT.  No amendment or modification of this Lease, shall be valid or 

binding unless reduced to writing, approved and executed by the parties in the same manner as 

the execution of this Lease. 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  22Packet Page 124



 

17 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Lease as of the day and year 

first above written. 

CITY OF BOULDER, COLORADO   
        
 
 
     ____________________________________ 

Jane S. Brautigam, City Manager 
1777 Broadway 
Boulder, CO  80302 

             Telephone     (303) 441-3090 
             Fax                (303) 441-4478    
  
 
 
 
 
Attest:  
 
 
____________________________ 
City Clerk  
 
 

THE COLORADO CHAUTUAQUA 
ASSOCIATION   
        
 
 
By: ____________________________ 
Susan G. Connelly, Executive Director 
900 Baseline Road 
Boulder, CO 80302 
Telephone: (303) 442-3282 
Fax: (303) 449-0790 
 

 
Attest:  
 
 
____________________________ 
Secretary, Board of Directors 
 

Agenda Item 3A     Page  23Packet Page 125


	00_Agenda 20150806
	2A_2nd Rdg. out of city water for 4400 Peach Court
	Executive Summary and Staff Recommendation
	Impacts and Feedback 
	Background
	Analysis
	Attachment A - Ordinance 8059 & agreement for service 
	Attachment B - Site Plan
	Attachment C - 1995 City & Left Hand Water District IGA
	Attachment D - City Letter to Left hand Water District (2013)

	2B_BVCP service area exp
	Executive Summary
	Staff Recommendation, Impacts
	Feedback, Background
	Analysis
	Next Steps
	Attachment A- BVCP Work Plan
	Attachment B- Outline of Topics
	Attachment C- Service Area Expansion Process
	Attachment D-Sample of Updated Subcommunity Fact Sheet
	Attachment E- Summary of Planning Commission

	2C_ Alexan Flatirons Concept Plan call-up
	Background
	Exhibit  A - Planning Board memo of 5/7/15 
	Exhibit B - Draft PB minutes from May 7

	3A_Chautauqua Lease
	Executive Summary
	Discussion
	Attachment A - Lease with Draft Revisions




